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Agri-Nutrition and Food company listed on  
the ESM and AIM markets of the Irish and  
London Stock Exchanges. 
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2008 2008 2008 1,504,242

2007  889,363

 74,130 

2007  42,834 

34.05

2007 19.63***

2009 2009 2009 1,507,837  80,959 36.16

2010 2010 2010 1,337,065  82,418 37.26

Financial Highlights
 2010 2009  
 €’000 €’000 % change

Group revenue 1,337,065 1,507,837 (11.3%)

Group EBITA*   

– Agri-Nutrition 67,562 65,133 3.7%

– Food 14,856 15,826 (6.1%)

Group EBITA* 82,418 80,959 1.8%

Operating profit** 77,426 79,419 (2.5%)

Adjusted fully diluted EPS (cent)** 37.26 36.16 3.0%

Group net debt 111,889 153,752 27.2%

Dividend per ordinary share (cent) 9.0 8.0 12.5%

*  Group earnings before interest, tax and amortisation (‘Group EBITA’) includes our contribution from associates 
and joint venture (before tax) so as to compare year-on-year on a like-for-like basis.

** Before intangible amortisation (2010: €3.9 million, 2009: €3.3 million) and exceptional items (2009: €134.4 million).
*** Adjusted to reflect the current capital structure of the Group.

Group Revenue

 €1.3bn
Group revenue of €1.3 billion for the year  
to 31 July 2010, a decrease of 11.3 per cent, 
prinicipally due to lower global feed and  
fertiliser prices.

Group EBITA*

 €82.4m
Group EBITA* for the year to 31 July 2010  
of €82.4 million was 1.8 per cent higher  
than last year.   

Adjusted fully diluted EPS (cent)**

 37.26c
Adjusted fully diluted EPS** for the year to  
31 July 2010 increased 3 per cent to 37.26c. 
  

Group Revenue €’000 Group EBITA* €’000 Adjusted fully diluted EPS (cent)**
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Origin at a Glance

Origin is a focused agri-services group 
committed to the delivery of value 
added services, technologies and 
strategic inputs which support the 
delivery of sustainable and profitable 
solutions for primary food producers.

Revenue Split
by region %

1. 50.4% Ireland
2. 49.6% Rest of world  Integrated Agronomy Services

  Animal Feed Ingredients 

 Fertiliser Blending

 Marine Proteins and Oils

 Direct Farming
  Food

Ireland and the  
United Kingdom

Agri-Nutrition comprises agri-services and 
marine proteins and oils. 

Agri-Services
The agri-services businesses incorporate 
Masstock’s and Dalgety’s integrated 
agronomy services, fertiliser blending and 
feed ingredients. These businesses provide 
customised solutions that address the 
efficiency, quality and output requirements 
of primary food producers.

 Integrated Agronomy Services

  Animal Feed Ingredients 

 Fertiliser Blending

 Direct Farming

Agri-Nutrition – Servicing the Primary Food Producer Pages 08-10
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Poland and Ukraine

Norway

 Marine Proteins and Oils  Food

Food Page 11

Marine Proteins and Oils
Welcon is Europe’s largest producer of  
marine proteins and oils with operations in 
Ireland, the UK and Norway. This business 
manufactures fishmeal and fish oil, which are 
specialised protein and energy raw materials 
principally supplied to the aquaculture, pig  
and poultry feed industries.

Food
Origin Foods comprises three of Ireland’s 
premier food brands: Odlums, Shamrock and 
Roma. These brands enjoy market leading 
positions in the ambient home-baking and 
Italian food ingredients categories. Origin 
Foods has an extensive manufacturing and 
route-to-market capability servicing the major 
retail, bakery and foodservice channels. 

In September 2010, the establishment of  
Valeo Foods was announced to facilitate the 
strategic consolidation of Irish consumer food 
brands. Valeo Foods will comprise one of the 
strongest portfolios of iconic Irish food brands. 
Origin will have a 45 per cent equity interest in 
Valeo Foods.
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Chairman’s Statement

The contrasting fortunes for farming during 2010  
highlight the fundamental strategic context for primary 
food production, reflecting fragile supply side dynamics 
and long-term rising food demand. Sentiment at the 
beginning of the financial year was extremely bearish  
due to limited visibility on the direction of primary  
output markets, resulting in a very challenging planning 
environment for primary food producers. As the year 
progressed, the industry experienced a strong recovery  
in output prices and profitability across most sectors.
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Origin has a long-established tradition in servicing 
primary food producers and, through the strategic 
repositioning of its business model, has extended 
its capability to support and maintain profitable 
and sustainable farming systems through the 
provision of leading edge, specialist agri-services. 

Origin delivered a strong performance for the  
year, exceeding market expectations – growing 
adjusted fully diluted earnings per share and cash 
flow – with a very strong second-half performance.  
The Group’s Agri-Services business achieved a 
very satisfactory result during the year, underpinned 
by a sustained performance from Masstock. 

On 10 September, the Group announced the 
strategic repositioning of its Food business  
with the establishment of Valeo Foods Group 
Limited (‘Valeo’) to consolidate Irish consumer 
food brands. This strategic development marks  
a significant repositioning of our consumer foods 
interests and an important clarification of Origin’s 
strategic priority. Origin is now a focused Agri-
Services group committed to the delivery of value 
added services, technologies and strategic inputs, 
which support the delivery of sustainable and 
profitable solutions for primary food producers.

The Board is recommending a dividend of 9 cent 
per ordinary share, an increase of 12.5 per cent  
on the inaugural dividend in 2009. The dividend, 
subject to shareholder approval at the Annual 
General Meeting, will be paid on 6 January 2011 to 
shareholders on the register on 10 December 2010.

There were no changes to the Board during the 
financial year.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to acknowledge 
the commitment and contribution of Tom O’Mahony, 
Chief Executive and the management and staff 
throughout the Group for their efforts in attaining 
this excellent performance. 

The outlook for primary food production remains 
positive – supported by excellent long-term 
fundamentals. The Group has a strong platform 
established and remains well positioned for  
further development.

Owen Killian, Chairman
22 September 2010 



06 O R I G I N  E N T E R P R I S E S  P L C   /   A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 10

2008  74,130 

2007 42,834

2009  80,959 

2010  82,418 

Review of Business Operations

The recent momentum in primary 
output markets provides a welcome 
boost to incomes for primary producers 
and sets a positive backdrop for  
a stronger performance from agri-
services in 2011. The outlook for  
marine proteins and oils remains 
positive, underpinned by continuing 
strong aquaculture demand. 

Based on existing market conditions, 
we anticipate that growth in operating 
profits from our existing Agri-Nutrition 
division in 2011 will substantially offset 
the earnings dilution arising from the 
strategic repositioning of Origin Foods.

“ As our Agronomist, Andrew Richards is an 
important member of the farm team and advises 
us across all aspects of arable management here 
at Waddesden. Working with Andrew, we take 
Masstock’s R&D work and apply it to our cropping 
system and soil types, looking to maximise output 
and gross margin, whilst adhering to a high level 
of environmental stewardship. We have managed 
to consistently produce higher than average yields 
on the farm and achieve the quality specifications 
we need to supply our markets. Agronomy support 
from Masstock has been key to this.”

Al Brooks
Waddesdon Estate, Buckinghamshire

Meet the farmer...

Group EBITA* €’000
 * Group earnings before interest, tax and 
amortisation (‘Group EBITA’) includes our 
contribution from associates and joint venture 
(before tax) so as to compare year-on-year  
on a like-for-like basis.

Brendan Fitzgerald, CFO (left); Tom O’Mahony, CEO (centre) and  
Declan Giblin, Executive Director (right).
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Welcon, the Group’s Marine Proteins and Oils  
joint venture, benefited from positive market 
fundamentals for European aquaculture 
production.

While the trading environment in Food remains 
challenging, sustained progress in the delivery  
of cost reductions and the successful alignment  
of our brands with consumers’ current spending 
patterns contributed to a resilient result in the 
period.

The establishment of Valeo Foods to combine 
Origin’s Food division with the Irish food company 
Batchelors, marks an important repositioning  
of the Group’s food interests and a clarification  
of our strategic priority. Origin is now a focused 
agri-services group committed to the delivery of 
value added services, technologies and strategic 
inputs which support the delivery of sustainable 
and profitable solutions for primary food producers. 

We are firmly committed to strengthening our 
market position in agri-services and on the 
delivery of growth through acquisitions and 
organic development.

The repositioning of Origin Foods announced 
earlier this month facilitates the establishment  
of a new and exciting food competence in  
Ireland which will act as a catalyst for further 
consolidation in the sector. 

The Group has the benefit of strong cash flow 
generation and is well positioned to capitalise on 
complementary earnings enhancing acquisition 
opportunities. 

Highlights of the year:

Strong result reflecting the improved operating •	

environment for primary producers in the 
second-half of the financial year
Masstock underpins sustained performance •	

from Agri-Services business
Excellent performance from Welcon AS  •	

our Marine Proteins and Oils joint venture
Resilient performance from Food •	

Establishment of Valeo Foods to facilitate •	

strategic consolidation of Irish consumer  
food brands
Increase of 3.0 per cent in adjusted  •	

diluted earnings per share to 37.26 cent
Strong cash flow performance resulting  •	

in a 27.2 per cent reduction in net debt to 
€111.9 million
Dividend increased by 12.5 per cent to  •	

9 cent per ordinary share

Origin performed ahead of expectations delivering 
strong cash flow and growing earnings per share 
following a very good second-half performance. 

The improving outlook for farm incomes has 
resulted in a return to more normal demand 
patterns across agri-services contributing to 
robust results from Masstock’s prescription- 
led agronomy services, fertiliser blending  
and feed ingredients. 
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Establishment, 
Seed, 

Nutrition, 
Crop protection, 

Precision agriculture

Agronomist  
visits farm

(up to 25 times per year)

Analyse farmer’s 
needs

Prescription
creation

Transmission
of prescription

Delivery to
farmer

2009  65,133 

2010  67,562 

Meet the R&D Manager...

Agri-Nutrition

Agri-Nutrition comprises agri-services 
and marine proteins and oils. The 
businesses delivered an excellent 
performance in the second-half of  
the year reflecting the recent upturn  
in primary output markets leading  
to a recovery in demand for strategic 
services and inputs.

Revenue decreased by 11.2 per cent  
to €1,077 million reflecting lower global 
feed ingredient and fertiliser prices with 
volumes increasing year-on-year. 

EBITA* increased by 3.7 per cent to 
€67.6 million with an increase of 13.8 
per cent in the second-half of the year.

How does agronomy work?

Agri-Nutrition EBITA* €’000
 * Before intangible amortisation and exceptional 
items and includes our contribution from 
associates and joint venture (before tax) so as 
to compare year-on-year on a like-for-like basis.
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Agri-Services
Agri-Services incorporates Masstock’s and 
Dalgety’s integrated agronomy services, fertiliser 
blending and feed ingredients. These businesses 
provide customised solutions that address the 
efficiency, quality and output requirements of 
primary food producers. 

Agri-Services recorded good growth in volumes 
and profits in the seasonally more important 
second-half of the year, reflecting anticipated  
catch up activity as the improved outlook for 
primary producer incomes underpinned farmer 
confidence. In contrast, the first-half of the 
financial year was characterised by a more 
challenging backdrop for farming as volatile  
output markets drove a cautious approach  
to the management of farm budgets resulting in 
delayed purchasing and investment decisions. 

Masstock performed strongly in the year as  
higher autumn arable plantings drove increased 
sales of full service agronomy applications  
which helped offset the impact of lower input  
sales during the spring season as adverse weather 
resulted in a shorter application period. The year 
saw further growth in technical seed applications, 
the successful integration of CSC, acquired in  
April 2009, and the roll out of Masstock’s precision 
agriculture offering. Masstock’s integrated 
approach to research and development ensures 
delivery of the optimum combination of appropriate 
crop and agronomy applications to sustain 
customer’s investment returns. 

Stable fertiliser pricing, which reverted to lower 
historic levels during the year, led to a strong 
recovery in market volumes in the UK. Both 
Masstock and Origin’s UK Fertiliser business 
experienced volume growth in line with the  
market as farmers increased their application  
of Nitrogen, Phosphate and Potash (NPK).

In Ireland, the return to profitability of dairy  
farming, combined with improved confidence 
across the beef and sheep sectors, were the 
principal drivers of year-on-year increases in  
feed ingredient and fertiliser volumes. Similar  
to the UK, fertiliser demand improved as prices 
stabilised and farmers increased their application 
to rebuild animal fodder stocks. 

Whilst volumes increased, the animal feed 
ingredients business had a challenging year due 
to a combination of competitive pricing and the 
spot nature of market demand. Demand for feed 
ingredients improved as animal fodder stocks 
were depleted as severe winter weather and a  
dry summer resulted in reduced grass growth. 
The key driver for both animal feed and fertiliser 
volumes in Ireland is animal numbers, which 
remained stable over the course of the year.

Continental Farmers Group Plc, the large scale 
primary producer of combinable and root crops  
in Poland and Ukraine achieved good operational 
progress during the year.  Over 15,000 hectares 
were harvested in the period with business 
performance positively influenced by strong 
returns from potato and sugar beet crops.  
Active agronomy programmes, central to crop 
development have been instrumental in securing 
well established winter crops for the upcoming 
harvest against challenging weather conditions 
experienced during the growing year.

“ At Masstock we pride ourselves on our research and 
development capabilities. Our main research and 
development centre is at Throws Farm, near Stansted, 
Essex and from here we organise over 35,000 trial plots 
located throughout the UK. We are constantly engaged  
in innovative trials to identify the optimum combination of 
crop and agronomy that will maximise our customers’ yield 
and quality. Our 25 SMARTFarms across the UK provide 
the perfect platform to communicate our message from 
our research and development work to our customers  
to maintain and develop a unique partnership.”

     Colin Lloyd
          Masstock’s Throws Farm Research  
             and Development Manager

Meet the R&D Manager...
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“ Cutting edge technology, quality assurance 
and a strong focus on customer services as 
well as sustainable sourcing makes us the 
preferred supplier to a demanding market.”

Rolf Vaage
Sales Director, Welcon

Agri-Nutrition (continued)

Strong fishmeal prices and reduced protein 
availability from South America underpinned 
excellent growth in profit during the year. There 
has been a good increase in Norwegian and 
Scottish aquaculture production, principally Atlantic 
salmon, reflecting the continuing trend of positive 
consumer demand and reduced output in South 
America. Fishmeal usage across pig and poultry 
feed markets remained solid while fish oil prices 
improved towards the latter half of the year. 

Rationalisation of manufacturing capacity 
continued with Welcon now operating three 
facilities in Ireland and the UK and three facilities  
in Norway. During the year the business also 
acquired 100 per cent control of the strategically 
located Bodø Sildeoljefabrikk manufacturing facility 
in Norway, situated just north of the Arctic Circle.

Marine Proteins and Oils
Welcon, jointly owned by Origin and 
Austevoll Seafoods ASA, is Europe’s 
largest manufacturer of marine proteins 
and oils servicing the aquaculture,  
pig and poultry feed sectors. 

Meet the fish expert...
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2009  15,826 

2010  14,856 

Food

Year-on-year operating profits for the Food division 
(‘Food’ or ‘Origin Foods’) declined by 6.1 per cent, 
driven by the impact of the current economic 
situation and the competitive trading environment 
as consumers’ purchasing decisions remain firmly 
focused around value shopping. Revenue declined 
by 11.9 per cent to €260.1 million principally  
due to price deflation and the removal of excess 
milling capacity during the year. Operating margins 
increased marginally to 5.7 per cent in the period 
reflecting the benefit of cost reductions. 

Notwithstanding the intensely competitive 
environment during the year, single-digit volume 
declines recorded across the Group’s home-baking 
and Italian food ingredients categories reflected  
a resilient performance as consumers continued  
to positively support the Odlums, Shamrock  
and Roma brands. These branded offerings are 
strongly positioned in areas of spending that are 
fundamentally non-discretionary. The maintenance 
of brand investment, together with the introduction 
of a number of innovative promotional support 
programmes, ensured that the brands remain 
aligned with consumers’ current spending patterns. 
The profit impact of volume reductions was partially 
offset through the delivery of cost savings following 
the closure of excess cereal milling capacity and 
improved efficiencies within the supply chain.

In September 2010, Origin reached agreement  
with CapVest Limited (‘CapVest’) to establish  
Valeo Foods Group Limited (‘Valeo’) to facilitate  
the consolidation of Irish consumer food brands. 
Valeo, in which Origin will have a 45 per cent equity 

shareholding, reached conditional agreement to 
simultaneously acquire 100 per cent of the branded 
food business of Origin Foods and the Irish food 
company Batchelors (‘The Transactions’). 

The Transactions are subject to a number of 
conditions including clearance from the Irish 
Competition Authority.

Under the terms of The Transaction, Origin will 
dispose of Origin Foods to Valeo based on an 
enterprise value of €78 million. The business  
being acquired by Valeo excludes the Mars  
Ireland distribution activities, the contract for 
which is scheduled to cease. Origin will hold a  
45 per cent equity interest in Valeo, receive cash 
consideration of €26 million on completion and 
deferred consideration of €35 million as a vendor 
loan note. The cash proceeds will initially be used 
to repay debt and ultimately to fund development 
of the Group’s Agri-Services business. Valeo  
is being financed through a combination of 
ringfenced banking facilities, equity funding to  
be provided by CapVest, rolled equity and the 
vendor loan note from Origin. 

Proforma turnover of Valeo is approximately  
€200 million. On completion of The Transactions, 
Origin’s 45 per cent interest in Valeo will be 
accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting as an associate undertaking.  
The Transaction will be marginally earnings  
dilutive for the year ending 31 July 2011.

Valeo will comprise one of the strongest portfolios 
of Irish food brands and will be ideally positioned 
to participate in further brand consolidation in  
the Irish consumer food market. The combination 
of Origin Foods and Batchelors will substantially 
enhance the offering to consumers and will 
support superior levels of product innovation  
and service for customers. 

Tom O’Mahony, Chief Executive Officer

Food Operating Profit* €’000 
 *Before intangible amortisation and exceptional items. 
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Directors

The Board of Origin Enterprises plc (‘Origin’) 
consists of three executive directors and four 
non-executive directors.

Chairman
Owen Killian (57) 
Joined Irish Agricultural Wholesalers Society 
(‘IAWS’) in 1977, and worked in various managerial 
functions until 1988. Upon the public flotation  
of the Company to form IAWS Group plc in 1988,  
he held various senior management functions.  
In October 1999 he was appointed to the Board  
of Directors of IAWS Group plc as Chief Operations 
Officer and from 2001 to 2003 he was Head of 
Food. In 2003 he was appointed Chief Executive 
Officer (‘CEO’) of IAWS Group plc. He has been 
CEO and a member of the Board of ARYZTA AG 
since its admission to trading. 

Chief Executive
Tom O’Mahony (48) 
Was appointed CEO of Origin Enterprises on its 
formation in October 2006. Prior to this he held 
the role of Chief Operations Officer of IAWS Group 
plc. Tom joined IAWS in 1985 and on its public 
flotation in 1988 to form IAWS Group plc he held  
a number of senior management functions and 
was involved in acquisitions, disposals, business 
integration and financial control within the Group, 
until his appointment as CEO of Origin. 

Executive Directors
Brendan Fitzgerald (47) 
Joined Origin in November 2006 as Chief Financial 
Officer. A former director with NCB Corporate 
Finance he has held senior financial positions with 
Greencore Group plc and Waterford Foods plc. 
He qualified as a Chartered Accountant with 
Arthur Andersen.

Declan Giblin (54) 
Is Head of Corporate Development and Executive 
Chairman of Masstock Group Holdings Limited 
(‘Masstock’). He was formerly Chief Executive  
of Masstock and has been the driving force 
behind the development of Masstock over  
a 20 year period.

Non-Executive Directors
Hugh Cooney (58) 
Has specialised in corporate finance since 1995. 
In that period, he was managing director of NCB 
Corporate Finance and a global corporate finance 
partner for Arthur Andersen. He is currently a 
consultant with KPMG. Hugh is also Chairman of 
Enterprise Ireland and is a non-executive director 
of a number of companies including Siteserv plc. 
Hugh has a B.Comm from University College 
Dublin and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Certified Accountants in Ireland.

Alan Gray (52) 
Is Managing Partner of Indecon International 
Economic Consultants, a leading European 
consulting practice and is also Managing Partner 
of Indecon Ireland. He is a director of the Central 
Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland. 
He is a director of Tedcastle Holdings and is 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of London 
Economics and has previously served on the 
Board of a number of commercial companies.

Patrick McEniff (42) 
Joined IAWS Group plc in 1989 and in the  
period to 1997 worked as a financial controller  
in IAWS focusing on financial reporting and 
systems development. In 1997 he became 
Director of Finance in the Food Distribution  
and Flour Milling businesses of IAWS Group plc.  
In 2000 he was appointed Finance Director in the 
Bakery Business of IAWS Group plc. In 2004 he 
became Finance Director of IAWS Group plc. In 
2008 upon the formation of ARYZTA AG, he was 
appointed as Chief Financial Officer and member 
of the Board of Directors.
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Accounting policies and basis of preparation 
The 2010 Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 
their interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the EU. Details of the significant 
accounting policies adopted by the Group are set out on pages 33 to 39. 

Capital structure 
The financial structure of the Group is managed to maximise shareholder value while allowing the Group the flexibility to take advantage 
of opportunities that might arise to develop the business. The Group targets acquisition and investment opportunities that are value 
enhancing and the Group’s policy is to fund these transactions in the most efficient manner.

The Group has committed bank facilities of €350 million with a syndicate of six banks. These facilities mature in August 2012.

Analysis of results
A comprehensive commentary on the Group’s performance for 2010 is included in the review of business operations on pages 6 to 11. 

Key performance indicators
The Group considers the following measures to be important indicators of the underlying performance of the business:

Summary segmental analysis

 
      2010 2009
      €m €m Change

Revenue      
– Agri-Nutrition      1,077.0 1,212.5 (11.2%)
– Food      260.1 295.3 (11.9%)

Total      1,337.1 1,507.8 (11.3%)

      
Group Operating Profit*      
– Agri-Nutrition      51.0 59.9 (14.8%)
– Food      14.9 15.8 (6.1%)

       65.9 75.7 (13.0%)
– Associates and joint venture      11.5 3.7 211.3%

Total Group Operating Profit      77.4 79.4 (2.5%)

      
Operating Profit %*      
– Agri-Nutrition      4.7% 4.9% –20bps
– Food      5.7% 5.4% +30bps

Total      4.9% 5.0% -10bps

Revenue
Group revenue was €1.3 billion compared to €1.5 billion in the previous year. The Agri-Nutrition businesses achieved revenues of €1.1 billion, 
a decrease of 11.2 per cent over the previous year. On a like for like basis excluding the impact of the bolt on acquisitions completed in the 
second half of 2009, the transfer of the marine proteins and oils business to Welcon in February 2009 and currency changes, the reduction 
in revenue was 10.6 per cent reflecting lower global fertiliser and feed ingredient pricing as volumes were approximately 10 per cent higher.

The Food businesses generated revenue for the period of €260.1 million, a reduction of 11.9 per cent over the previous year. The decline in 
revenue is principally attributable to the closure of inefficient milling capacity and lower selling prices reflecting the fall in raw material costs.

Operating profit*
Operating profit* for the year decreased by 2.5 per cent to €77.4 million from €79.4 million in the previous year. In the seasonally more 
important second-half of the year operating profit* increased by 9.1 per cent compared to a reduction of 24.0 per cent in the first-half  
of the year.

Financial Review 
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Operating profit* (continued)
The performance over the year compared to last year can be summarised as follows:

      Quarter Cumulative

Quarter 1      (38.8%) (38.8%)
Quarter 2      22.8% (24.0%)
Quarter 3      9.3% (7.2%)
Quarter 4      8.8% (2.5%)

Operating profit* before contributions from associates and joint venture decreased by 13 per cent to €65.9 million from €75.7 million in  
the previous year. The weakness of sterling relative to the euro reduced operating profit* by €0.7 million. 

Operating profit* from the wholly owned Agri-Nutrition businesses amounted to €51.0 million compared to €59.9 million in the prior year.  
For the current financial year the results from marine proteins and oils are included on the associates and joint venture line. Excluding this and  
the impact of currency changes the year on year reduction is 2.9 per cent. Operating profits* increased by 3.2 per cent in the seasonally more 
important second-half of the year. Operating profit* from Food declined by 6.1 per cent from €15.8 million to €14.9 million. The operating margin* 
in Food increased from 5.4 per cent to 5.7 per cent reflecting the closure of inefficient milling capacity and cost reductions.

Associates and joint venture
Our share of the profit after interest and taxation from associates and joint venture increased from €3.7 million to €11.5 million, principally 
reflecting a full year contribution from our 50 per cent interest in Welcon, and a strong underlying performance from Welcon.

Finance costs and net debt
Net finance costs amounted to €15.2 million a decrease of €2.2 million. Average net debt amounted to €209 million compared to  
€281 million last year, a reduction of 25 per cent, reflecting a lower average investment in working capital due to lower global fertiliser  
and feed ingredient prices and the cash generative nature of the business.

Net debt at 31 July 2010 was €111.9 million compared with €153.8 million at the end of the previous year and is 1.33 times EBITDA**. 

A summary cashflow is presented below. 

      2010 2009
      €m €m

Cash flow from operating activities      69.5 82.8 
Change in working capital      9.9 2.3 
Interest and taxation      (21.3) (31.4) 

Net cashflow from operating activities      58.1 53.7 +8.2%
Dividends received      5.8 4.2 
Capital expenditure, net      (6.1) (8.5) 
Disposal proceeds      – 8.2 
Acquisition expenditure incl. loans      (1.3) (17.3) 
Investment in associates and joint venture      – (26.2) 
Dividends paid      (10.6) – 
Other      (0.8) – 

       45.1 14.1 

Opening net debt      (153.8) (175.1) 
Translation      (3.2) 7.2 

Closing net debt – Reduction of €41.9 million      (111.9) (153.8) 

    
Net cashflow from operating activities increased by 8.2 per cent to €58.1 million attributable to continued strong cash generation across 
the businesses. The Group’s focus on working capital is reflected in a year on year reduction of €9.9 million. As in 2009 the Group 
converted its profit after tax for the financial year into cash in 2010. 

Adjusted fully diluted earnings per share (‘EPS’)*
EPS amounted to 37.26 cent per share, an increase of 3.0 per cent from 2009. 
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Financial Review  
(continued)

Working capital
Investment in working capital is a key area of focus for the Group given the funding costs and the related risks in the current environment. 
The year end represents the low point in the working capital cycle for the Group reflecting the seasonality of the business.

Investment properties
During the current year the Group reassessed its strategy in relation to investment properties and transferred a number of properties to 
property, plant and equipment as these properties will be used in the business in the medium term. The value of properties transferred 
amounted to €43.2 million.

Retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes and defined contribution schemes with assets held in separate trustee 
administered funds. All of the defined benefit schemes have been closed to new members for a number of years.

During the year the Group undertook a strategic review of its Irish defined benefit pension arrangements. Benefit changes were 
implemented and in the case of the main scheme the Group ceased its liability to contribute to the scheme with effect from 16 December 
2009 and agreed to increase the transfer values payable from the plan to 100 per cent of the transfer values under the Minimum Funding 
Standard (MFS) excluding any allowance for pension increases. These payments will be made during the 2011 financial year and are 
shown as a current liability at 31 July 2010. The impact of the changes is to reduce the pension liabilities in the Statement of Financial 
Position and the related volatility.

Under IAS 19, Employee Benefits, the amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 July 2010 are  
as follows:

       2010 2009
       €m €m

Non-current  
Deficit in defined benefit schemes       7.5 23.1
Provision to meet unfunded pensions       0.4 0.4

Total       7.9 23.5
  
Current  
Enhanced transfer values payable       12.7 –

Total       20.6 23.5

The decrease year on year is principally attributable to the amendments as noted above. The net impact of the changes in the income 
statement for the year to 31 July 2010 was a charge of €51,000.

Taxation
The effective tax rate on ordinary activities relating to wholly owned businesses for the year ended 31 July 2010 was 21.9 per cent.

Our progress since establishment
The following table summarises the financial performance of the Group since flotation in June 2007. 

Over the period the Group has almost doubled EBITA** and delivered compound annual growth in adjusted fully diluted EPS of 23.8 per cent.

Cumulative cash flow over the period of almost €200 million reflects the strong cash generative nature of the business and this cash flow 
has funded acquisition and development expenditure of €195 million. 

Over the period the Group has delivered a return on investment of circa 20 per cent, well in excess of the Group’s cost of capital.

With year-end net debt of €111.9 million, committed banking facilities as outlined earlier and the cash generative nature of the businesses, 
Origin is well positioned to pursue future development opportunities.

* Earnings per share, Operating Profit and Group Operating Profit are stated before intangible amortisation and exceptional items. 
** Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items.
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Our progress since establishment (continued)

    2007 2008 2009 2010 
Year Ended July    €m €m €m €m CAGR

EBITA*    42.8 74.1 81.0 82.4 24.4%
Adjusted fully diluted EPS** (cent)    19.63 34.05 36.16 37.26 23.8%
Acquisition expenditure (cumulative)    – 157.4 193.9 195.1
Cashflow after Capex (cumulative)    38.8 91.9 145.3 197.4
Year end net debt    71.7 175.1 153.8 111.9
Net Debt/EBITDA (times)    1.42 2.13 1.77 1.33
Return on investment %***    16.9% 19.5% 20.6% 20.3%

* Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items.
** Before intangible amortisation and exceptional items. 2007 adjusted to reflect the current capital structure of the Group.
*** Including Investment properties.

Risk exposures
The Group’s international operations expose it to different financial risks that include currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate 
risk. The Group has a risk management programme in place which seeks to limit the impact of these risks on the financial performance  
of the Group. The Board has determined the policies for managing these risks. It is the policy of the Board to manage these risks in a 
non-speculative manner. Details of the Group’s risk exposures and the controls in place to monitor such exposures are set out in Note 25  
to the financial statements.

Insurance
The Group is focussed on risk and its management. Accordingly, insurance is held for all significant insurable risks and against major 
catastrophes.

Dividends
The Board is recommending a dividend of 9 cent per ordinary share, an increase of 12.5 per cent. Subject to shareholders approval at 
the Annual General Meeting, the dividend will be paid on 6 January 2011 to shareholders on the register on 10 December 2010. 

Share price
The Group’s ordinary shares traded in the range of €2.06 to €2.90 during the period from 1 August 2009 to 31 July 2010. The Group’s 
share price at 31 July 2010 was €2.58. 

Subsequent events
On 10 September 2010 Origin announced that it had reached agreement with CapVest Limited (‘CapVest’) to establish Valeo Foods 
Group Limited (‘Valeo’). Valeo has reached conditional agreement to simultaneously acquire 100 per cent of the branded food business  
of Origin and the Irish food company Batchelors. The transactions are subject to a number of conditions including clearance from the Irish 
Competition Authority.

Origin will hold a 45 per cent equity interest in Valeo, receive cash consideration of €26 million on completion in addition to deferred 
consideration of €35 million as a vendor loan note. Valeo is being financed through a combination of ringfenced banking facilities, equity 
funding to be provided by CapVest and rolled equity and the vendor loan note from Origin.

Proforma turnover of Valeo is approximately €200 million. These transactions will result in a loss on disposal of approximately €8 million 
which will be shown as a non recurring item in the financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2011.

For the year ended 31 July 2011, Origin’s 45 per cent interest in Valeo will be treated as an associate undertaking and will be accounted 
for using the equity method in accordance with IAS 28.

Brendan Fitzgerald 
Chief Financial Officer 
22 September 2010
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The directors present their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2010, 
which are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. 

Principal activity and business review
The Group’s principal activities comprise the supply, distribution, and manufacture of agri-nutrition products as well as the manufacture, 
marketing and distribution of ambient food products. Through its subsidiaries, joint venture and associates, the Group currently has 
manufacturing, trading and distribution operations based in the Republic of Ireland, the United Kingdom, Norway, Poland and Ukraine.

During the year under review, the Group continued to expand and develop its core activities. A comprehensive review of the performance 
of the Group is included in the Chairman’s Statement and Chief Executive’s review of business operations. The directors consider the 
state of affairs of the Company and the Group to be satisfactory. A list of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures is set out on page 71.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Significant time and resources have been invested in identifying specific risks across the Group and in developing a culture of balanced 
risk minimisation. To facilitate this, the Group has formal risk assessment processes in place through which risks and mitigating controls 
are evaluated. These processes are driven by business unit management who are best placed to identify the significant ongoing and 
emerging risks facing their businesses. The outputs of these risk assessment processes are subject to review and the risks identified  
and associated mitigating controls are also subject to audit as part of health and safety and operational/financial audit programmes. 

The risks identified fall broadly into three categories: strategic/commercial, operational and financial. Some of the most significant 
strategic/commercial risks facing the Group include the availability of product, potential changes in the regulatory environment  
affecting this supply, the potential impact of competitor activity, exposure to fluctuations in the cost of raw materials and bad debts. 

The Group also bears the risk of funding the deficit in the defined benefit pension schemes which it operates and holds investment 
properties which are carried at fair value. The value of these investment properties may fluctuate based on changes in the general 
economic environment. 

The Group closely monitors emerging changes to regulations and legislation on an ongoing basis. The Group also addresses these risks 
by developing diverse sources of supply and distribution capability to ensure that the Group continues to compete effectively and that 
customer requirements are being anticipated and met on a continuing basis. 

Origin faces risks and challenges associated with acquiring new businesses to generate growth. There is substantial experience within 
the Group in this regard together with strong project management capability in this area. Financial, commercial and operational due 
diligence is performed both by external consultants and in-house resources in advance of all acquisitions.

A key operational risk facing the Group, in common with most companies, is the risk of failure to address the increasing compliance 
requirements particularly in the areas of emissions and effluent control and health and safety. These types of risks are mitigated through  
the establishment of environmental/discharge controls, ensuring product traceability and thorough hygiene and health and safety systems.

The loss of a significant manufacturing/operational site through natural catastrophe or act of vandalism represents another risk that  
could, potentially, have a material impact on the Group. As a result, emphasis is given to ensuring that site security measures at all  
Group locations are robust. In addition, the Board is satisfied that significant management attention is given to the development of 
comprehensive disaster recovery plans. Similarly, a significant IT system failure could adversely impact on operations. As a result,  
IT disaster recovery plans and system backup processes are implemented.

The Group is currently implementing Microsoft Dynamics AX, a new ERP system, across its Agri-Nutrition segment. The implementation  
of AX may result in significant costs in the unlikely event of a failed implementation. The effective implementation of AX will drive substantial 
business efficiencies and reduced costs to serve customers. The estimated completion date for full implementation is in the financial  
year 2012.

While the Group has a track record of attracting and retaining high quality senior management and staff, it faces risks associated with the 
potential loss of key management personnel. The Board addresses these risks through incentivisation and retention initiatives in addition 
to robust succession planning. 

As a Group with operations and interests outside the eurozone, Origin is subject to the risk of adverse movements in foreign currency 
exchange rates. Exposures are managed through the use of foreign currency contracts. Financial risk management objectives and 
policies are identified in the Financial Review and in Note 25 to the Group financial statements.

Directors’ Report
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Results for the year
The results for the year are set out in the Consolidated Income Statement on page 28. The profit after tax for the financial year was 
€48,039,000 (2009: profit of €46,912,000 before the impact of exceptional items, principally a fair value adjustment to investment 
properties, of €103,603,000 (net of deferred tax)).

Dividends
The Board is recommending a dividend of 9 cent (2009: 8 cent) per share in respect of the 2010 financial year. Subject to shareholder 
approval at the Annual General Meeting, the dividend will be paid on 6 January 2011 to shareholders on the register on 10 December 2010.

Future developments
The Group will continue to pursue new developments to enhance shareholder value, through a combination of organic growth, acquisitions 
and development opportunities.

Research and development
The Group pursues ongoing research and development programmes directed towards the development of product range extensions  
in its food business and specialised products in its Agri-Nutrition business.

Accounting records
The directors believe that they have complied with the requirement of Section 202 of the Companies Act, 1990 with regard to books  
of account by employing personnel with appropriate expertise and by providing adequate resources to the finance function. The books  
of account of the Company are maintained at the Company’s registered office at 151 Thomas Street, Dublin 8.

Corporate governance
The Board recognises the importance of sound corporate governance and that it is accountable to its shareholders in this regard. While 
there is no distinct Irish corporate governance regime for companies whose shares are traded on the AIM and ESM markets the directors 
have provided the following disclosures in relation to Corporate Governance having regard to the Company’s size and the markets on 
which its shares are traded.

The Board
The Board currently comprises the non-executive Chairman, three executive and three other non-executive directors. The Board considers 
all non-executive directors capable of exercising independent judgement. 

Enhanced and effective governance is achieved by the separation of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Board is 
responsible for setting the strategic direction and for providing leadership and control of the Company and Group.

The Board has reserved to itself decision making in the areas of: 

Continuity or alteration of strategic direction of the Group.•	
Appointment or dismissal of the Chief Executive Officer and recommendation for appointment or dismissal of any member of  •	
the Board.
Director and senior executive management succession planning.•	
Policy on remuneration for executive directors and senior management.•	
The issue of shares and debentures.•	
Approval of borrowing facilities.•	
Approval of budgets.•	
Authorisation of major capital expenditure, acquisitions and disposals.•	
Dividend policy.•	

Certain matters are delegated to Board committees, the details of which are set out below. Written terms of reference of all committees 
have been established. 

The Chairman is responsible for the operational efficiency of the Board and for ensuring that all directors have full and timely access to the 
information necessary to enable them to discharge their duties. The Board has delegated responsibility for the day-to-day management of 
the Group, through the Chief Executive Officer, to executive management. 

The directors have full access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who also acts as Secretary to all of the Board 
committees, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and ensuring compliance with applicable  
rules and regulations. The directors also have access to independent professional advice, at the Group’s expense, if and when required.

On appointment to the Board, non-executive directors are provided with an introduction to the Group’s operations, including the 
opportunity to visit sites and meet with key management. 
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Directors’ Report  
(continued)

The Board (continued)
All directors are required to retire by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. At every Annual General Meeting 
of the Company, as nearly as possible one-third will retire by rotation. The directors to retire are those who have been longest in office.  
A retiring director shall be eligible for re-election.

Meetings of directors are held regularly. The Board has established an Audit Committee and a Remuneration Committee. The Board 
does not have a formal Nominations Committee and considerations of appointments are made by the Board. Details of the meetings held 
during the year, both of the Board and of the Board committees are contained in the schedule below, which also includes information on 
individual attendance.

Meetings held and attended in the financial year ended 31 July 2010 

  Board Audit Remuneration
    Eligible to  Eligible to  Eligible to
   Attended attend Attended attend Attended attend

H. Cooney   8 9 4 4 – –
B. Fitzgerald   9 9 – – – –
D. Giblin   9 9 – – – –
A. Gray   9 9 – – – –
O. Killian   9 9 – – 1 1
P. McEniff   9 9 4 4 1 1
T. O’Mahony   9 9 – – – –

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises two non-executive directors, namely Mr. H. Cooney (Chairman) and Mr. P. McEniff, both of whom have 
recent and relevant financial experience. The Audit Committee met four times during the year. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee 
are set out in the terms of reference of the Audit Committee which are available on the Group’s website, www.originenterprises.com. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements and for reviewing significant financial 
reporting issues and judgements contained therein. The Committee reviews the accounting principles, policies and practices adopted  
in the preparation of the interim, preliminary and annual financial statements. 

The Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the external auditor and audit process, and for making 
recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and for approving  
their remuneration and terms of engagement. The Committee monitors the external auditor’s independence and objectivity, taking into 
consideration relevant professional and regulatory requirements, extent of services provided and fees paid. The Audit Committee is also 
responsible for developing a policy on the engagement of the external auditor to provide non-audit services. Following a formal tender 
process PricewaterhouseCoopers was elected as statutory auditor and group auditor in December 2009. 

The Audit Committee monitors the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal control, the processes for monitoring and evaluating 
risks and the effectiveness of the Internal Audit function. The Committee also reviews the Group’s arrangements for its employees to raise 
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters in confidence.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. O. Killian (Chairman) and Mr. P. McEniff, both non-executive directors. The terms of 
reference of the Remuneration Committee are to determine the Group’s policy on remuneration of executive directors and to consider 
and approve the salaries and other terms of the remuneration package for the executive directors. 

The remuneration of the non-executive directors is determined by the Board, and reflects the time commitment and responsibilities of  
the role. The Group’s policy on executive directors’ remuneration recognises that employment and remuneration conditions for senior 
executives must properly reward and motivate them to perform in the best interests of the shareholders. The typical elements of the 
remuneration package for executive directors are basic salary and benefits, performance related bonuses, pensions and participation  
in the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan. Remuneration policy reflects the need to ensure that the Group can attract, retain and 
motivate executives to perform at the highest levels of expectation. 

Basic salary of executive directors is reviewed annually with regard to personal performance, Group performance and competitive  
market practice. Employment related benefits consist principally of a company car. The Group pays performance related annual bonuses 
to executive directors which are linked to the overall performance of the Group. Pension benefits are determined solely in relation to  
basic salary.
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Remuneration Committee (continued)
Under the terms of the 2006 Origin Enterprises Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘the Origin Plan’) executive directors and senior management 
acquired Ordinary Shares in the Company prior to admission to trading of the shares on the AIM and ESM markets. To retain the Ordinary 
Shares issued under the Origin Plan the executive directors and senior management must remain with the Group for five years and 
financial/operational targets must be achieved. Executive directors and senior management also acquired Equity Entitlements in Origin. 
Provided certain targets are achieved the Equity Entitlements will be converted on a one-for-one basis into Ordinary Shares in Origin. 
Further details on the Origin Plan are outlined on page 45.

Internal controls
The directors have overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. This involves an 
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group and reviewing the effectiveness of the 
resultant system of internal control throughout the year and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. 
This system is designed to manage risks that may impede the achievement of the Group’s business objectives rather than to eliminate 
these risks. The internal control system therefore provides reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against material misstatement  
or loss.

The directors have established a number of key procedures designed to provide an effective system of internal control. The key procedures, 
which are supported by detailed controls and processes, include:

Internal audit
A Group internal audit function, reporting directly to the Audit Committee, undertakes examinations of business processes on a risk basis 
and reports on controls throughout the Group. 

Control environment
Maintaining an organisation structure with defined lines of responsibility and specified delegation of authority within which the Group’s 
activities can be planned and monitored.

Financial reporting
A comprehensive financial reporting system involving the setting of annual budgets and plans, timely monthly reporting and variance 
analysis and ongoing review, supported by information systems developed for the purpose. 

Risk management policies
Comprehensive policies and procedures are in place relating to computer security, capital expenditure, treasury risk management and 
credit risk management. Reputational risk management is also a key focus for the Group across all areas of the business.

Annual review of internal controls
The directors confirm that they have conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control as operated up to and 
including the date of approval of the financial statements. This has had regard to the processes for identifying the principal business risks 
facing the Group, the methods of managing those risks, the controls that are in place to contain them and the procedures to monitor them. 

Communication with shareholders
Shareholder communication is given high priority by the Group. The Group has an ongoing programme of meetings between its senior 
executives, institutional shareholders, analysts and brokers as well as general presentations at the time of the release of the annual and 
interim results. The Board is kept appraised of the views of shareholders, and the market in general, through feedback from the meetings 
programme. Analysts’ reports on the Group are also circulated to the Board on a regular basis.

The Group issues its results promptly to shareholders and also publishes them on the Group’s website, www.originenterprises.com.  
The Company’s Annual General Meeting will afford each shareholder the opportunity to question the Chairman of the Board, the 
Chairmen of all committees and all other Board members. 

Directors and Secretary and their interests
The following directors and secretary held office as at 31 July 2010:

Directors: Secretary:
H. Cooney P. Morrissey
B. Fitzgerald
D. Giblin 
A. Gray 
O. Killian
P. McEniff
T. O’Mahony
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Directors’ Report  
(continued)

Directors and Secretary and their interests (continued)
H. Cooney’s and A. Gray’s appointments are for an initial three year period under their letters of appointment. None of the other directors 
have a service contract with any Group company.

The directors and Company Secretary who held office at 31 July 2010 had no interests, other than those shown below, in the shares in, 
or loan stock of, the Company or in any Group company. Beneficial interests at 31 July 2010 and 31 July 2009 were as follows:

Ordinary shares in Origin Enterprises plc of €0.01 cent each
  
       2010 2009
       Number Number
       of shares of shares

Directors:  
H. Cooney       66,667 66,667
B. Fitzgerald       426,468 426,468
D. Giblin       155,000 155,000
A. Gray       47,887 47,887
T. O’Mahony       837,267 837,267

 
There have been no changes in the interests as shown above between 31 July 2010 and 22 September 2010.

Equity entitlements in Origin Enterprises plc
In addition, through Origin LTIP Trustee Limited, the directors held the following Equity entitlements under the terms of the Origin  
Long-Term Incentive Plan.

       2010 2009
       Number Number
       of equity of equity
       entitlements entitlements

Directors:  
B. Fitzgerald       482,069 482,069
D. Giblin       149,845 149,845
T. O’Mahony       958,182 958,182

 
There have been no changes in the interests as shown above between 31 July 2010 and 22 September 2010.

D. Giblin also holds 516,416 ‘A’ ordinary shares of Stg£1 each in Origin Holdings (UK) Limited.

Interests in ARYZTA AG
Directors’ and Company Secretary’s interests in the Ordinary Shares of ARYZTA AG at 31 July 2010:

       2010 2009
       Number Number
       of shares of shares

Directors:  
H. Cooney       1,425 1,425
O. Killian       523,731 523,731
P. McEniff       320,006 320,006
T. O’Mahony       40,882 40,882
  
Company Secretary:  
P. Morrissey       93,251 93,251
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Interests in ARYZTA AG (continued)
Directors’ and Company Secretary’s interest in equity instruments in ARYZTA AG at 31 July 2010:

Matching scheme

    (1) (2) (3)

Directors:   
O. Killian    300,000 31 July 2011 6 April 2019
P. McEniff    180,000 31 July 2011 6 April 2019
   
Company Secretary:   
P. Morrissey    90,000 31 July 2011 6 April 2019

 
(1) Maximum number of shares available based on Matching Scheme Awards held at 31 July 2010.
(2) Earliest date by which qualifying conditions can be met.
(3) Latest date by which qualifying conditions must be met.

Option equivalent scheme

    (1) (2) (3)

Directors:   
O. Killian    300,000 31 July 2012 14 December 2019
P. McEniff    250,000 31 July 2012 14 December 2019
   
Company Secretary:   
P. Morrissey    100,000 31 July 2012 14 December 2019

 
(1) Maximum number of share option rights available based on share options granted during the year and held at 31 July 2010.
(2) Earliest date by which qualifying conditions can be met.
(3) Latest date by which qualifying conditions must be met.

There have been no changes in the interests as shown between 31 July 2010 and 22 September 2010.

Details of the terms and conditions attaching to the equity instruments in ARYZTA AG are set out in the ARYZTA AG Annual Report,  
a copy of which is available on the ARYZTA AG website at www.ARYZTA.com.

Substantial holdings
As at 22 September 2010 the directors have been notified of the following shareholdings which amount to three per cent or more of the 
Company’s issued ordinary share capital:

       Number
       of shares %

ARYZTA AG       95,000,000 71.4
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.       4,986,600 3.7
W&R Barnett Limited       4,899,271 3.7
Origin LTIP Trustee Limited       4,682,134 3.5
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Directors’ Report  
(continued)

Political donations
No political donations were made in the current year (2009: €nil).

Post balance sheet events
On 10 September 2010 Origin announced that it had reached agreement with CapVest Limited (‘CapVest’) to establish Valeo Foods  
Group Limited (‘Valeo’). Valeo has reached conditional agreement to simultaneously acquire 100 per cent of the branded food business  
of Origin and the Irish food company Batchelors. The Transactions are subject to a number of conditions including clearance from the  
Irish Competition Authority.

Origin will hold a 45 per cent equity interest in Valeo, receive cash consideration of €26 million on completion in addition to deferred 
consideration of €35 million as a vendor loan note. Valeo is being financed through a combination of ringfenced banking facilities,  
equity funding to be provided by CapVest and rolled equity and the vendor loan note from Origin.

Proforma turnover of Valeo is approximately €200 million. These transactions will result in a loss on disposal of approximately €8 million 
which will be shown as a non-recurring item in the financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2011.

For the year ended 31 July 2011, Origin’s 45 per cent interest in Valeo will be treated as an associate undertaking and will be accounted 
for using the equity method in accordance with IAS 28.

Going concern
The directors have a reasonable expectation, having made appropriate enquiries that the Group and the Company have adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the financial statements.

Auditors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, who were appointed during the year have indicated their willingness to continue in office in 
accordance with Section 160(2) of the Companies Act, 1963.

On behalf of the Board

Owen Killian Tom O’Mahony
Director Director     
22 September 2010
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company financial statements, in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law and in 
accordance with the Rules of the AIM and ESM exchanges issued by the UK and Irish Stock Exchanges, the directors have elected to 
prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the EU 
(EU IFRS) and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice  
in Ireland, comprising applicable law and the financial reporting standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board and promulgated 
by Chartered Accountants Ireland. 

The Group financial statements are required by law and EU IFRS to present fairly the financial position and performance of the Group.  
The Companies Acts 1963 to 2009 provide in relation to such financial statements that references in the relevant part of that Act to 
financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation. The Company financial statements  
are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company. 

In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements, the directors are required to: 

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; •	
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and •	
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company  •	
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2009. They are also 
responsible for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud  
and other irregularities. 

Under applicable law and the requirements of the AIM and ESM Rules, the directors are also responsible for preparing a directors’ report 
that complies with that law and those rules. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Group’s 
website. Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board

Owen Killian Tom O’Mahony
Director Director     
22 September 2010
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the 
Shareholders of Origin Enterprises plc

We have audited the group and parent company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Origin Enterprises plc for the year  
ended 31 July 2010 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows, the Group Statement of Accounting Policies and the related notes and the Company Balance Sheet, the Company Statement  
of Accounting Policies and related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and for preparing the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with applicable Irish law and the accounting standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board and 
published by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland (Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland) are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members 
as a body in accordance with Section 193 of the Companies Act, 1990 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, 
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it  
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and have been properly prepared in accordance with Irish 
statute comprising the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2009. We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial 
statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland, and have been properly 
prepared in accordance with Irish statute comprising the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2009. We state whether we have obtained all the 
information and explanations we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit, and whether the parent company balance sheet  
is in agreement with the books of account. We also report to you our opinion as to: 

whether the Company has kept proper books of account;•	
whether the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements; and •	
whether at the balance sheet date there existed a financial situation which may require the Company to convene an extraordinary •	
general meeting of the Company; such a financial situation may exist if the net assets of the Company, as stated in the parent 
company balance sheet, are not more than half of its called-up share capital.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. 
The other information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the Chairman’s Statement, the Business Review and the Operating and Financial 
Review. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also 
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, 
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and  
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide 
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
financial statements.
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Opinion
In our opinion:

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state  •	
of the Group’s affairs as at 31 July 2010 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended; 
the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2009;•	
the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice  •	
in Ireland, of the state of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 July 2010; and 
the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2009.•	

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit. In our opinion proper 
books of account have been kept by the Company. The parent company balance sheet is in agreement with the books of account.

In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.

The net assets of the Company, as stated in the company balance sheet are more than half of the amount of its called-up share capital 
and, in our opinion, on that basis there did not exist at 31 July 2010 a financial situation which under Section 40 (1) of the Companies 
(Amendment) Act, 1983 would require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the company.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Dublin
22 September 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 31 July 2010

      Pre-
      exceptional Exceptional Total
     2010 2009 2009 2009
   Notes  €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Revenue   1  1,337,065 1,507,837 – 1,507,837
Cost of sales     (1,165,432) (1,326,055) – (1,326,055)

Gross profit     171,633 181,782 – 181,782

Operating costs   2, 3  (109,693) (109,374) (134,437) (243,811)
 
Share of profit of associates and joint venture   7  11,572 3,717 – 3,717

  
Operating profit/(loss)     73,512 76,125 (134,437) (58,312)
     
Finance income   4  4,201 5,270 – 5,270
Finance expense   4  (19,414) (22,623) – (22,623)

  
Profit/(loss) before tax     58,299 58,772 (134,437) (75,665)

Income tax (expense)/credit   10  (10,260) (11,860) 30,834 18,974

  
Profit/(loss) for the year     48,039 46,912 (103,603) (56,691)

 
Attributable as follows:     
Equity shareholders     48,039 46,778  (56,825)
Non-controlling interest   29  – 134  134

  
      48,039 46,912  (56,691)

 
Basic earnings per share   11  36.12c 35.17c  (42.72c)
Diluted earnings per share   11  34.97c 34.04c  (42.72c)

 

On behalf of the Board

Owen Killian Tom O’Mahony
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 July 2010

       2010 2009
     Note  €’000 €’000

Result for the year       48,039 (56,691)
 
Other comprehensive income 
Foreign exchange translation effects  

– foreign currency borrowings       (2,099) 8,659 
– foreign currency net investments       1,351 (16,325) 
– recycling on transfer of subsidiary undertakings       – 1,473

 
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and  

joint venture (excluding pension obligations)       (692) –
 
Group/associate defined benefit pension obligations   

–  actuarial loss on Group’s defined benefit pension schemes      (509) (3,805) 
– deferred tax effect of actuarial loss       262 816 
–  actuarial loss on associate’s defined benefit scheme, net of deferred tax     (701) (1,126)

Deferred tax effect of increase in Irish capital gains tax in relation to investment properties   – (7,035)
 
Cash flow hedges  

– gain/(loss) relating to cash flow hedges       2,164 (5,382) 
– deferred tax effect of cash flow hedges       (227) 731

 
Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax      (451) (21,994)

 
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year      47,588 (78,685)

 
Attributable as follows: 
Equity shareholders       47,588 (78,712)
Non-controlling interest     29  – 27

        47,588 (78,685)

 

On behalf of the Board

Owen Killian Tom O’Mahony
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 July 2010

       2010 2009
     Notes  €’000 €’000

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment     12  129,182 86,760
Investment properties     13  16,002 59,214
Goodwill and intangible assets     14  114,595 115,999
Investments in associates and joint venture     15  89,741 83,631
Deferred tax assets     21  4,607 5,299

 
Total non-current assets       354,127 350,903

 
Current assets 
Inventory     16  82,138 96,265
Trade and other receivables     17  179,581 198,856
Derivative financial instruments     25  495 65
Cash and cash equivalents     19  76,043 89,950

 
Total current assets       338,257 385,136

 
TOTAL ASSETS       692,384 736,039

EQUITY 
Called up share capital     26  1,386 1,386
Share premium       160,399 160,399
Retained earnings and other reserves       20,059 (17,806)

 
TOTAL EQUITY       181,844 143,979

 
LIABILITIES 
Non-current liabilities 
Interest-bearing borrowings     20  184,076 232,741
Deferred tax liabilities     21  18,038 19,418
Contingent acquisition consideration     22  13,005 12,136
Deferred government grants     23  2,377 2,476
Employee benefits     24  7,930 23,436
Derivative financial instruments     25  804 2,443

Total non-current liabilities       226,230 292,650

Current liabilities 
Interest-bearing borrowings     20  3,856 10,961
Trade and other payables     18  257,691 281,248
Employee benefits     24  12,703 –
Corporation tax payable       5,772 2,534
Derivative financial instruments     25  4,288 4,667

Total current liabilities       284,310 299,410

 
TOTAL LIABILITIES       510,540 592,060

 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       692,384 736,039

 

On behalf of the Board

Owen Killian Tom O’Mahony
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 July 2010

       Foreign
   Cashflow  Share-based Re- currency
 Share Share hedge Revaluation payment organisation translation Retained
 capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Earnings Total
2010 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 August 2009 1,386 160,399 (5,939) 34,701 1,830 (196,884) (15,593) 164,079 143,979
Share-based payments – – – – 918 – – – 918
Dividend paid to shareholders – – – – – – – (10,641) (10,641)
Total comprehensive income  

for the year – – 1,937 – – – (1,440) 47,091 47,588

At 31 July 2010 1,386 160,399 (4,002) 34,701 2,748 (196,884) (17,033) 200,529 181,844

       Foreign
  Share Cashflow  Share-based Re- currency  Non
 Share premium hedge Revaluation payment organisation translation Retained controlling
 capital (Note 1) reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Earnings interest Total
2009 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 August 2008 1,386 265,182 (1,288) 90,132 914 (196,884) (9,400) 71,840 1,495 223,377
Reduction in  

share premium – (104,783) – – – – – 104,783 – –
Share-based payments – – – – 916 – – – – 916
Transfer from  

revaluation reserve  
to revenue reserve – – – (55,431) – – – 55,431 – –

Foreign exchange  
translation – – – – – – – – (107) (107)

Total comprehensive  
expense for the year – – (4,651) – – – (6,193) (67,975) 134 (78,685)

Transfer to joint venture – – – – – – – – (1,522) (1,522)

At 31 July 2009 1,386 160,399 (5,939) 34,701 1,830 (196,884) (15,593) 164,079 – 143,979

Note 1: The application for a reduction in share premium of €104,783,000 pursuant to section 72 of the Companies Act 1963, was 
approved at an Extraordinary General Meeting of the company held on 1 July 2009 with the reduction subsequently approved by the 
High Court of Ireland on 21 July 2009.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 July 2010

       2010 2009
     Notes  €’000 €’000

Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit/(loss) before tax       58,299 (75,665)
Exceptional items     3  – 134,437
Finance income     4  (4,201) (5,270)
Finance expense     4  19,414 22,623
Share of profit of associates and joint venture     7  (11,572) (3,717)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment     12  6,525 7,567
Amortisation of intangible assets     14  3,914 3,294
Amortisation of government grants     23  (99) (145)
Employee share-based payment charge     8  918 916
Pension contributions in excess of service costs     24  (3,666) (1,202)

 
Operating cash flow before changes in working capital      69,532 82,838
Decrease in inventory       15,191 61,830
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables       22,008 (17,157)
Decrease in trade and other payables       (27,298) (42,339)

 
Cash generated from operating activities       79,433 85,172
Interest paid       (13,529) (17,880)
Income tax paid       (7,851) (13,528)

Net cashflow from operating activities       58,053 53,764

 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment      984 1,422
Purchase of property, plant and equipment       (5,975) (7,715)
Additions to investment properties       – (775)
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking, net of cash acquired      – (14,234)
Additions to intangible assets       (1,123) –
Investment/loans to associates and joint venture       (1,252) (26,184)
Dividends received from associates and joint venture      5,807 4,174
Proceeds from sale of McCann brands       – 6,837

Net cash flow from investing activities       (1,559) (36,475)

 
Cash flow from financing activities 
Repayment of bank loans       (51,079) (10,195)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders       (10,641) –
Payment of finance lease obligations       (886) (654)

Net cash flow from financing activities       (62,606) (10,849)

 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents      (6,112) 6,440
Translation adjustment       (1,097) (1,613)
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year       79,834 75,007

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     19  72,625 79,834
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Group Accounting Policies

Origin Enterprises plc (the ‘Company’) is a company domiciled and incorporated in Ireland. The Group’s financial statements for the year 
ended 31 July 2010 consolidate the individual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as ‘the Group’) 
and show the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures using the equity method of accounting.

The individual and Group financial statements of the Company were authorised for issue by the directors on 22 September 2010.

Statement of compliance
As permitted by Company law and as required by the Rules of the AIM and ESM exchanges the Group financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and their interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the EU. 

The IFRSs adopted by the EU applied by the Group in the preparation of these financial statements are those that were effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 August 2009.

The Group has not applied the following IFRS’s and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations 
that have been issued and adopted by the EU but are not yet effective.

New IFRS accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Origin has yet to adopt the following standards and interpretations which are effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 August 
2010. Origin has reviewed the Standards below and they are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group financial statements:

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’;•	
Amendment to IFRS 2 ‘Group Cash settled share-based payment transactions’;•	
Amendment to IFRS 1 ‘Additional Exemptions for First Time Adopters’;•	
Amendment to IAS 32 ‘Classification of Rights Issues’;•	
Amendment to IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’;•	
Amendment to IFRIC 14 ‘Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement’;•	
IFRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments’ and•	
Improvements to IFRS’s 2010.•	

New IFRS accounting standards and interpretations adopted in 2009/10
During the year ended 31 July 2010, Origin Enterprises plc (the ‘Company’) adopted the following amendments to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee 
pronouncements (IFRIC). None of these had a material impact on consolidated results or assets and liabilities.

IAS 1 revised on the 
presentation of financial 
statements

Requires changes to the presentation of financial statements and adopts revised titles for the 
primary statements, although companies may continue to use the existing titles. IAS 1 revised  
has been adopted by the Company and Group with effect from 1 August 2009.

IAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated 
and separate financial

Requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in other 
comprehensive income if there is no change in control. The revised standard statements also 
specifies the accounting when control is lost. IAS 27 has been adopted by the Company and 
Group with effect from 1 August 2009.

IFRS 3 (Revised) Business 
combinations 

Makes a number of changes to the accounting for business combinations, including requirements 
that all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, 
with some contingent payments subsequently remeasured at fair value through income; an option 
to calculate goodwill based on the parent’s share of net assets only or to include goodwill related to 
the minority interest; and a requirement that all transaction costs be expensed. IFRS 3R has been 
adopted by the Company and Group with effect from 1 August 2009.

IFRS 8 on operating segments Sets out the requirements for the disclosure of information about an entity’s operating segments 
and about the entity’s products and services, the geographical areas in which it operates and  
its major customers. IFRS 8 achieves convergence with the US accounting standard, SFAS 131 
‘Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information’ with minor differences. 
IFRS 8 has been adopted by the Company and Group with effect from 1 August 2009.
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New IFRS accounting standards and interpretations adopted in 2009/10 (continued)
Other standards adopted by the Group which did not have a material impact on the consolidated results or assets and liabilities were:

IAS 23 Borrowing costs
IAS 32 (Amended) Financial Instruments: Presentation
IAS 39 (Amended) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible hedged items
IFRS 2 (Amended) Share-based payments
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

Basis of preparation
The Group financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their 
fair value: investment properties and derivative financial instruments. The accounting policies have been applied consistently over both 
years. The financial statements are presented in euro, rounded to the nearest thousand, which is the functional currency of the parent 
and the majority of the Group’s operations. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

The areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Group 
financial statements, relate primarily to accounting for defined benefit pension schemes, financial instruments, investment properties, 
share-based payments, provisions, intangible assets, goodwill impairment and deferred tax. The relevant assumptions and estimates 
have been discussed in the notes to the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements reflect the consolidation of the results, assets and liabilities of the parent undertaking and all of its 
subsidiaries, together with the Group’s share of profits/losses of associates and joint ventures. Where a subsidiary or associate or joint 
venture is acquired or disposed of during the financial year, the Group financial statements include the attributable results from or to the 
effective date when control passes.

Subsidiary undertakings
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights 
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are  
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. The consideration transferred for  
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent acquisition arrangement. 
Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition by acquisition basis, the Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value 
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of the bargain purchase, the difference  
is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Associates and joint ventures
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence over, but not control of, the financial and operating policies. 
Joint ventures are those entities over which the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous 
consent for strategic, financial and operating decisions. Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting. 

Group Accounting Policies  
(continued)
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Basis of consolidation (continued)
Associates and joint ventures (continued)
Under the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of its associates and joint ventures  
is recognised in the income statement. The income statement reflects, in profit before tax, the Group’s share of profit after tax of its 
associates and joint ventures in accordance with IAS 28, Investments in Associates and IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures. Given the 
increased investment in associates and joint ventures during 2009, the Group have changed the presentation in the income statement  
to show the share of profits or losses of associates and joint ventures within operating profit. The Group’s interest in their net assets is 
included as investments in associates and joint ventures in the Group Statement of Financial Position at an amount representing the 
Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets at acquisition plus the Group’s share of post acquisition retained income and 
expenses. The Group’s investment in associates and joint ventures includes goodwill on acquisition. The amounts included in the financial 
statements in respect of the post acquisition income and expenses of associates and joint ventures are taken from their latest financial 
statements prepared up to their respective year ends together with management accounts for the intervening periods to the Group’s year 
end. Where necessary, the accounting policies of associates and joint ventures have been changed to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the Group financial statements. Unrealised gains and income and expenses arising from transactions with associates and 
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that they do not provide evidence of impairment.

Revenue
Revenue represents the fair value of the sale consideration received for the goods supplied to third parties, after deducting discounts 
estimated based on individual customer arrangements and historical experience and exclusive of value added tax. Revenue is recognised 
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Segmental reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 
including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating 
results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker, being the Board, to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to segments and to assess performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

The Group has two operating segments: Food and Agri-Nutrition. Segment assets and liabilities consist of property, plant and equipment, 
goodwill and intangible assets and other assets and liabilities that can be reasonably allocated to the reported segment. Unallocated 
assets and liabilities principally include current and deferred income tax balances together with financial assets and liabilities. 

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding,  
is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially 
improved products and processes, is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the Group has 
sufficient resources to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised 
development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Employee benefits

Pension obligations 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as the  
related employee service is received. The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated, separately  
for each plan, by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior 
periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The discount  
rate is the yield at the year end date on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s 
obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. Fair value is based on market  
price information, and in the case of quoted securities is the published bid price. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Current and past service costs, interest on scheme liabilities and expected return on assets  
are recognised in the income statement. 
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Group Accounting Policies  
(continued)

Long-term incentive plan
The Group has established the ‘Origin Enterprises Long-Term Incentive Plan’ (‘the Origin Plan’). 

All equity instruments issued under the Origin Plan are equity settled share-based payments as defined in IFRS 2, Share-based Payment. 
The fair value of equity instruments issued is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured 
at issue date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the equity instrument. The fair value 
of the equity instruments issued is measured taking into account the terms and conditions under which the equity instruments were issued. 
The plan is subject to non-market vesting conditions and, therefore, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual 
number of equity instruments that vest.

Taxation
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to  
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case the related tax is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted at the year end date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided  
is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the year end date. If a temporary difference arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction does not affect accounting or taxable profit or loss, no deferred tax 
is recognised. Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates and joint ventures, 
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset 
can be recovered. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the year end date are translated to functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling  
at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated to 
euro at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the year end date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to euro at 
the average exchange rates. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation of the net assets of a foreign operation are recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income, in a translation reserve.

Exchange gains or losses on long term intra-group loans and on foreign currency borrowings, used to finance or provide a hedge against 
Group equity investments in non-euro denominated operations, are taken to the translation reserve to the extent that they are neither 
planned nor expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future or provide an effective hedge of the net investment. 

Dividends
Dividends are recognised in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders, or in the case of an interim dividend, 
when it has been approved by the Board of Directors and paid.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Other subsequent expenditure  
is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the item of property, plant and equipment. All other 
expenditure including repairs and maintenance costs is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value of property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land,  
on a straight line basis, by reference to the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 25 to 50 years
Plant and machinery 3 to 15 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 7.5 years

The residual value of assets, if significant, and the useful life of assets is reassessed annually.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are recognised on the completion of sale. Gains and losses on disposals 
are determined by comparing the proceeds received with the carrying amount and are included in operating profit.

Investment properties
Investment property, principally comprising land, is held for capital appreciation. Investment property is stated at fair value. The fair value 
is based on market value, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged in an arms length transaction based  
on professional valuation. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in the income statement. When property is 
transferred to investment property following a change in use, any difference arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount  
of the property immediately prior to transfer and its fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income if it is a gain. Upon disposal  
of the property, the gain would be transferred to retained earnings in other comprehensive income. Any loss arising in this manner,  
unless it represents the reversal of a previously recognised gain, would be recognised immediately in the income statement.

Leased assets
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Leases where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases  
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum  
lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in interest-bearing loans and borrowings.  
The interest element of the payments is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic  
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The asset acquired under the finance lease is depreciated over  
the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. In respect of acquisitions that have occurred since 1 August 2005, goodwill represents the 
difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. In respect of acquisitions prior to 
this date, goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, i.e. original cost less accumulated amortisation from the date of acquisition 
up to 31 July 2005, which represents the amount recorded under Irish GAAP. Goodwill is now stated at cost or deemed cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. In respect of associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment. 

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination are valued at their fair value at the date of acquisition. These generally 
include brand and customer related intangible assets. Where intangible assets are separately acquired they are capitalised at cost. 
Intangible assets are amortised over the period of their expected useful lives in equal annual instalments.

The expected useful lives of intangible assets range from 5 to 30 years. Indefinite life intangible assets are those for which there is no 
foreseeable limit to their expected useful life and these are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if applicable. 

Computer software that is not an integral part of an item of computer hardware is also classified as an intangible asset. These intangible 
assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Cost comprises purchase price and other directly 
attributable costs. The expected useful life of computer software is 5 years.

Impairment 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, other than inventories (which are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value), 
deferred tax assets (which are recognised based on recoverability), investment properties (which are carried at fair value), and those 
financial instruments, which are carried at fair value, are reviewed to determine whether there is an indication of impairment when an 
event or transaction indicates that there may be. If any such indication exists, an impairment test is carried out and the asset is written 
down to its recoverable amount. An impairment test is carried out annually on goodwill.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other 
assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss, other than in the case of goodwill, is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had  
been recognised.
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Group Accounting Policies  
(continued)

Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost on a first in, first out basis and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenditure, which has been 
incurred in the normal course of business in bringing the products to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price of inventory on hand less all further costs to completion and all costs expected to be incurred in marketing, 
distribution and selling.

Trade and other receivables and payables
Trade and other receivables and payables are recognised initially at fair value and are thereafter measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less any provision for impairment. Trade and other receivables are discounted when the time value of money  
is considered material.

A provision is established for irrecoverable amounts when there is objective evidence that amounts due under the original payment terms 
will not be collected. 

Where risks associated with receivables are transferred out of the Group under debt purchase agreements, such receivables are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position to the extent of the Groups continued involvement and retained risk.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand and call deposits. Bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a 
deduction from the proceeds.

Financial assets and liabilities

Short-term bank deposits
Short-term bank deposits of greater than three months maturity which do not meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents are 
classified as loans and receivables within current assets and stated at amortised cost in the Statement of Financial Position.

Derivatives 
Forward currency contracts are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at fair value.

All derivatives are initially recorded at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently, at reporting dates remeasured 
to their fair value. The gain or loss arising on remeasurement is recognised in the income statement except where the instrument is a 
designated hedging instrument. 

Derivative financial instruments are used to manage the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk through the use  
of forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps. These derivatives are generally designated as cash flow hedges in accordance 
with IAS 39. The Group does not enter into speculative derivative transactions. 

Cash flow hedges
Subject to the satisfaction of certain criteria, relating to the documentation of the risk, objectives and strategy for the hedging transaction 
and the ongoing measurement of its effectiveness, cash flow hedges are accounted for under hedge accounting rules. In such cases, 
any unrealised gain or loss arising on the effective portion of the derivative instrument is recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve,  
a separate component of equity. Unrealised gains or losses on any ineffective portion of the derivative are recognised in the income 
statement. When the hedged transaction occurs the related gains or losses in the hedging reserve are transferred to the income 
statement. 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
For interest-bearing loans and borrowings with a contractual repricing date of less than six months, the nominal amount is considered to 
approximate fair value. For loans with a repricing date of greater than one year, the fair value is calculated based on the expected future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at appropriate current market interest rates.

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using an effective interest rate method.

Finance lease liabilities
Fair value for disclosure purposes is based on the present value of future cash flows discounted at appropriate current market rates.
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Exceptional items
The Group has adopted an income statement format which seeks to highlight significant items within the Group results for the year.  
The Group believes that this presentation provides a more informative analysis as it highlights one off items. Such items may include 
significant restructuring costs, profit or loss on disposal or termination of operations, profit or loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment, profit or loss on disposal of investments, claims and significant impairment of assets. Judgement is used by the Group in 
assessing the particular items, which by virtue of their scale and nature, should be disclosed in the income statement and related notes 
as exceptional items.

Government grants
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are shown as deferred income and amortised in the Group income statement 
by instalments on a basis consistent with the depreciation policy of the relevant assets.

Other grants are credited to the income statement to offset the matching expenditure.

Borrowing costs
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit and loss using the effective 
interest method.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Contingent acquisition consideration
To the extent that contingent acquisition consideration is payable after more than one year from the date of acquisition, it is discounted  
at an appropriate loan interest rate and, accordingly, carried at net present value on the Statement of Financial Position. An appropriate 
interest charge, at a constant rate on the carrying amount adjusted to reflect market conditions, is reflected in the income statement over 
the earnout period, increasing the carrying amount so that the obligation will reflect its settlement at the time of maturity.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements

1 Segment Information

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the 
Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. Two operating 
segments have been identified; Agri-Nutrition and Food.

The Agri-Nutrition segment comprises integrated agronomy services, fertiliser blending, feed ingredients and marine proteins and oils. 
Origin’s Food business is the owner of a number of Ireland’s leading ambient food brands servicing the home-baking, food ingredients 
and convenience categories across the retail, food service and manufacturing sectors. 

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment operating 
profit as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CODM, being the Origin Board of Directors. 
Segment operating profit is used to measure performance, as such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of the 
Group’s segments.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include all items directly attributable to a segment. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total amount incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used for 
more than one accounting period.
   
   Investment Properties –
 Agri-Nutrition Food Fair Value Adjustment Total
 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

(a) Analysis by segment 

(i) Segment revenue and results 
Segment revenue 1,077,009 1,212,504 260,056 295,333 – – 1,337,065 1,507,837

Operating profit before  
amortisation of intangibles and  
exceptional items 50,998 59,876 14,856 15,826 – – 65,854 75,702

Amortisation of intangible assets (2,828) (2,052) (1,086) (1,242) – – (3,914) (3,294)
Exceptional items (Note 3) – 6,751 – (6,645) – (134,543) – (134,437)
Share of profit of associates and  

joint venture 11,572 3,717 – – – – 11,572 3,717

Operating profit/(loss) 59,742 68,292 13,770 7,939 – (134,543) 73,512 (58,312)

 
Included in total revenue are related party sales between the Food segment and subsidiaries of ARYZTA AG of €6,756,000 (2009: 
€8,321,000). Inter-segment transfers or transactions are entered into under the normal commercial terms and conditions available to 
unrelated third parties.

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

(ii)  Segment earnings before financing costs and tax is reconciled to reported  
profit before tax and profit after tax as follows: 

Segment earnings/(loss) before financing costs and tax      73,512 (58,312)
 
Finance income       4,201 5,270
Finance expense       (19,414) (22,623)

 
Reported profit/(loss) before tax       58,299 (75,665)

Income tax (expense)/credit       (10,260) 18,974

Reported profit/(loss) after tax       48,039 (56,691)

 
Finance income, finance expenses and income taxes are not allocated to segments as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury 
and taxation functions, which manage the cash and taxation position of the Group.
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1 Segment information (continued)

  Agri-Nutrition Food Total – Group
   2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
   €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

(a) Analysis by segment (continued) 

(iii) Segment assets 
Segment assets excluding  

investment in associates, joint 
venture and investment properties   379,590 357,510 125,906 140,370 505,496 497,880

Investment in associates and joint venture   89,741 83,631 – – 89,741 83,631
Investment properties   11,700 54,912 4,302 4,302 16,002 59,214

Segment assets   481,031 496,053 130,208 144,672 611,239 640,725

Reconciliation to total assets as reported in  
Statement of Financial Position 

Cash and cash equivalents       76,043 89,950
Derivative financial instruments       495 65
Deferred tax assets       4,607 5,299

Total assets as reported in  
Statement of Financial Position       692,384 736,039

(iv) Segment liabilities 
Segment liabilities   260,709 277,835 32,997 41,461 293,706 319,296

Reconciliation to total liabilities as reported in  
Statement of Financial Position 

Interest–bearing loans and liabilities       187,932 243,702
Derivative financial instruments       5,092 7,110
Current and deferred tax liabilities       23,810 21,952

Total liabilities as reported in  
Statement of Financial Position       510,540 592,060

(v) Other segment information 
Depreciation   4,718 5,551 1,807 2,016 6,525 7,567
Intangible amortisation   2,828 2,052 1,086 1,242 3,914 3,294
Capital grants amortisation   99 110 – 35 99 145
Exceptional items   – 6,751 – (6,645) – 106

 
Capital expenditure  

– property, plant and equipment   4,826 4,495 1,343 1,359 6,169 5,854
Capital expenditure  

– computer related intangibles   1,017 96 45 572 1,062 668
Capital expenditure – acquisitions   – 4,675 – – – 4,675
Capital expenditure – investment properties   – 1,339 – – – 1,339

Total capital expenditure   5,843 10,605 1,388 1,931 7,231 12,536

  Ireland Rest of world Total
   2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
   €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

(b) Analysis by geographical segment      
Segment revenue   673,839 773,395 663,226 734,442 1,337,065 1,507,837
      
Segment assets   245,953 284,626 365,286 356,099 611,239 640,725
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 
(continued)

2 Operating costs

  
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Distribution expenses       55,882 54,935
Administration expenses       49,996 51,290
Capital grants released to income statement       (99) (145)
Amortisation of intangible assets       3,914 3,294

        109,693 109,374
 
Exceptional items (Note 3)       – 134,437

        109,693 243,811

 

3 Exceptional items

  
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Exceptional items comprise the following: 
Fair value adjustment on investment properties(i)       – 134,543
Gain on disposal of operations(ii)       – (5,562)
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment       – (1,189)
Costs associated with closure of the Odlums Cork flour mill      – 6,645

        – 134,437

 
(i) Fair value adjustment on investment properties
In 2009 against the background of conditions in the Irish property market, the lack of transactions and the general economic environment, 
the directors commissioned an independent valuations expert to conduct a valuation of the Groups’ investment properties. The valuation 
was on the basis of market value and complies with the requirements of the Valuation and Appraisal Standards issued under the auspices  
of the Society of Chartered Surveyors. This valuation resulted in a write down in the carrying value of investment properties of €134.5 million 
(70 per cent) and a release of the related deferred tax liability of €30.9 million. The net non-cash charge of €103.6 million was shown as an 
exceptional item in the Income Statement for the year ended 31 July 2009.

(ii) Gain on disposal of operations
In September 2008, the Group disposed of the non-core brand and related goodwill of the McCanns Oatmeal business, for a consideration 
of €6.8 million, resulting in no gain/loss.

In February 2009, the Group transferred its 100 per cent shareholding in United Fish Industries Limited and United Fish Industries  
(UK) Limited together with a cash consideration of €16 million for a 50 per cent shareholding in the enlarged Welcon business. The net 
assets of the business transferred amounted to €19.8 million. The Groups 50 per cent shareholding is treated as a joint venture and is 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting in accordance with IAS 31 as and from February 2009. A gain of €5.6 million arose 
on this transaction.
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4 Finance income and expense

 
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Recognised in income statement 
Finance income 
Interest income on bank deposits       (687) (976)
Defined benefit pension obligations: expected return on scheme assets (Note 24)    (3,514) (4,294)

Total finance income       (4,201) (5,270)

 
Finance expenses 
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts       14,648 17,323
Finance charge on contingent acquisition consideration (Note 22)     591 570
Defined benefit pension obligations: interest cost on scheme liabilities (Note 24)    4,175 4,730

Total finance expenses       19,414 22,623

Finance costs, net       15,213 17,353

 
Recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
Gains/(losses) related to cash flow hedges       2,164 (5,382)

 

5 Statutory and other information

  
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Group operating profit/(loss) was arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following amounts: 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment       6,525 7,567
Amortisation of intangible assets       3,914 3,294
Amortisation of government grants       (99) (145)
Operating lease rentals: 

– plant and machinery       490 798 
– other       5,292 3,795

Research and development expenditure       1,914 1,862
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services       300 390
Auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services:  

– other assurance related services       7 41 
– other non–audit services       152 677

Fair value adjustment on investment properties       – 134,543
Impairment of property, plant and equipment on closure of facility     – 3,450

 

6 Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration paid to the directors in their capacity as directors of Origin Enterprises plc is set out below:

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Fees       220 168
Other emoluments       2,369 2,247

Total       2,589 2,415

   
       2010 2009
       Number Number

Average number of non-executive directors       4 4

Average number of executive directors       3 3
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 
(continued)

6 Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The analysis for the year ended 31 July 2010 is as follows:

     Benefit  Share-based 
  Fees Salary Bonus in kind Pension payment Total
  €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Non-executive directors       
H. Cooney  70 – – – – – 70
A. Gray  50 – – – – – 50
O. Killian  50 – – – – – 50
P. McEniff  50 – – – – – 50
       
Executive directors       
B. Fitzgerald  – 350 260 15 46 58 729
D. Giblin  – 308 220 23 19 86 656
T. O’Mahony  – 420 360 32 57 115 984

Total  220 1,078 840 70 122 259 2,589

   
Pension entitlements
The aggregate pension benefits attributable to directors under defined benefit schemes for the year were as follows:

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

(Decrease)/increase in accrued pension (excluding inflation)      (1) 34
Transfer value of (decrease)/increase (excluding inflation)      (9) 238
Accrued annual pension at 31 July       41 190

 

7 Group’s share of associates’ and joint ventures’ profit before tax  

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Group share of: 
Revenue       192,997 154,168

Profit after tax       11,572 3,717

 

8 Employment  

       2010 2009
       Number Number

The average number of persons (including executive directors) employed by  
the Group during the year was as follows: 

Sales and distribution       598 573
Production       305 315
Management and administration       360 414

        1,263 1,302
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8 Employment (continued)

 
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Aggregate employment costs of the Group are analysed as follows: 
Wages and salaries       61,173 61,548
Social welfare costs       6,221 6,664
Pension costs (Note 24):  

– defined benefit schemes – current service cost       800 1,176 
– defined benefit schemes – actuarial loss       509 3,805 
– defined benefit schemes – finance cost       4,175 4,730 
– defined benefit schemes – expected return       (3,514) (4,294) 
– defined benefit schemes – benefit changes       51 – 
– defined contribution schemes       1,234 1,045

Share-based payment (Note 9)       918 916

        71,567 75,590

 

9 Share-based payments

Under the terms of the 2006 Origin Enterprises Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘the Origin Plan’), 4,682,134 ordinary shares in Origin were 
issued to senior executives in 2007. As the consideration paid for these shares equalled their fair value, no share-based compensation 
charge was recorded under IFRS 2, Share-based Payment. To retain the ordinary shares issued under the terms of the Origin Plan the 
senior executives must remain with the Group for five years and specified targets (financial and business development related) must be 
achieved. If a senior executive leaves before the end of the five year period or the targets are not achieved the ordinary shares issued 
under the terms of the Origin Plan may be reacquired by Origin at the lower of the amount paid for the shares and the then fair market 
value of the shares.

Senior executives of the Group also acquired 5,555,270 equity entitlements of €0.01 each in Origin (see Note 26) at par value during 2007 
and 2008. Provided financial targets (compound growth in earnings per share as defined over a five-year period) are achieved and the 
senior executive remains with the Group for five years, the equity entitlements, or part thereof, will be converted on a one for one basis 
into ordinary shares in Origin. The equity entitlements are also convertible into ordinary shares in the event of a conversion event, defined 
in the Origin Plan as:

The announcement of a firm intention to make an offer to acquire the entire issued equity share capital of Origin, which is •	
recommended by the Board of Directors of Origin, or
An offer to acquire the entire issued equity share capital having received acceptances in respect of more than 50 per cent of the •	
issued equity share capital of Origin, or
The execution of an agreement whereby a person or persons acting together agree to acquire more than 50 per cent of the issued •	
equity share capital of Origin.

The equity entitlements issued are equity-settled share-based payments as defined in IFRS 2. The IFRS requires that a recognised 
valuation methodology be employed to determine the fair value of share-based payments issued and stipulates that this methodology 
should be consistent with methodologies used for the pricing of financial instruments. The expense reported in the Group income 
statement in respect of these equity entitlements for the year ended 31 July 2010 was €918,000 (2009: €916,000).

The weighted average fair value assigned to equity entitlements issued under the Origin Plan was calculated as the fair value of an 
ordinary share adjusted for the lost dividends between the date of issue and the vesting date.

No equity entitlements are convertible into ordinary shares at the end of the year.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 
(continued)

10 Income tax  

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Current tax: 
Republic of Ireland 
Corporation tax on profits for the year       3,958 3,188
Less: Manufacturing relief       (288) (198)
Adjustments in respect of prior years       (661) (354)

        3,009 2,636

 
Overseas: 
Current tax on profit for the year       7,994 9,716
Adjustments in respect of prior years       21 (641)

        8,015 9,075

Total current tax charge       11,024 11,711

 
Deferred tax: 
Deferred tax arising on temporary differences       270 (31,460)
Effect of deferred tax rate change       (173) –
Effect of increase in Irish capital gains tax rates       – 603
Adjustments in respect of prior years       (861) 172

Total deferred tax credit       (764) (30,685)

Income tax expense/(credit)       10,260 (18,974)

 
Reconciliation of average effective tax rate to applicable tax rate: 
Profit/(loss) before tax       58,299 (75,665)
Share of profits of associates and joint venture       (11,572) (3,717)

        46,727 (79,382)

Taxation based on Irish corporate rate of 12.5 per cent      5,841 (9,923)
Additional tax credit arising on fair value adjustment      – (14,121)
Effect of deferred tax rate change       (173) –
Effect of increase in Irish capital gains tax rates       – 603
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes       1,682 764
Higher rates of tax on overseas earnings       4,158 4,758
Adjustments to prior years       (1,504) (823)
Manufacturing relief       (288) (198)
Other       544 (34)

        10,260 (18,974)

 
Movement on deferred tax asset/(liability) recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
Relating to Group employee benefit schemes       (262) (816)
Impact of capital gains tax rate change in Ireland       – 7,035
Derivative financial instruments and other       227 (731)

        (35) 5,488
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11 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 July 2010 was based on the profit for the financial year attributable  
to ordinary shareholders of €48,039,000 (2009: loss of €56,825,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue. 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Profit/(loss) for financial year attributable to equity shareholders     48,039 (56,825)

  
       ’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year      133,016 133,016

 
       Cent Cent

Basic earnings/(loss) per share       36.12 (42.72)

 
Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share at 31 July 2010 was based on the profit for the financial year attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of €48,039,000 (2009: loss of €56,825,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 
137,377,000 (2009: 133,016,000). There were no shares with a dilutive effect in the prior year as all convertible shares were anti-dilutive.

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Profit/(loss) for financial year attributable to equity shareholders     48,039 (56,825)

 
       ’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in basic calculation     133,016 133,016
Effect of convertible shares with a dilutive effect       4,361 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) for the year     137,377 133,016

 
       Cent Cent

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share       34.97 (42.72)

 
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Adjusted basic earnings per share  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)      133,016 133,016

 
      2010  2009
     2010 Per share 2009 Per share
     €’000 € cent €’000 € cent

Profit/(loss) for the financial year     48,039 36.12 (56,825) (42.72)
 
Adjustments: 
Amortisation of intangible assets     3,914 2.94 3,294 2.48
Amortisation of related deferred tax     (767) (0.58) (380) (0.29)
Exceptional items, net of tax     – – 103,603 77.88

Adjusted basic earnings per share     51,186 38.48 49,692 37.35
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 
(continued)

11 Earnings per share (continued)

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Adjusted diluted earnings per share  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in basic calculation     133,016 133,016
Effect of convertible shares with a dilutive effect       4,361 4,401

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) for the year     137,377 137,417

 
      2010  2009
     2010 Per share 2009 Per share
     €’000 € cent €’000 € cent

Profit/(loss) for the financial year     48,039 34.97 (56,825) (41.35)
 
Adjustments: 
Amortisation of intangible assets     3,914 2.85 3,294 2.40
Amortisation of related deferred tax     (767) (0.56) (380) (0.28)
Exceptional items, net of tax     – – 103,603 75.39

Adjusted diluted earnings per share     51,186 37.26 49,692 36.16

 

12 Property, plant and equipment  

     Land and Plant and Motor
     buildings machinery vehicles Total
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 August 2010 

Cost 
At 1 August 2009     85,007 79,403 7,194 171,604
Additions     2,186 3,375 608 6,169
Transfer from investment properties (Note 13)     43,212 – – 43,212
Reclassification     1,020 (1,020) – –
Disposals     (717) (7,958) (1,230) (9,905)
Translation adjustments     341 448 112 901

At 31 July 2010     131,049 74,248 6,684 211,981

 
Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 August 2009     24,579 55,090 5,175 84,844
Depreciation charge for year     1,609 4,137 779 6,525
Disposals     (30) (7,843) (1,107) (8,980)
Translation adjustments     89 253 68 410

At 31 July 2010     26,247 51,637 4,915 82,799

 
Net book amounts 
At 31 July 2010     104,802 22,611 1,769 129,182

 
At 31 July 2009     60,428 24,313 2,019 86,760

 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at depreciated historical cost.
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12 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

     Land and Plant and Motor
     buildings machinery vehicles Total
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 August 2009 

Cost 
At 1 August 2008     90,658 127,627 9,037 227,322
Additions     1,500 3,792 562 5,854
Arising on acquisition     2,087 2,274 314 4,675
Disposals     (7,909) (50,725) (1,863) (60,497)
Translation adjustments     (1,329) (3,565) (856) (5,750)

At 31 July 2009     85,007 79,403 7,194 171,604

 
Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 August 2008     24,517 90,372 6,334 121,223
Depreciation charge for year     1,671 4,990 906 7,567
Impairment charge on closure     2,812 638 – 3,450
Disposals     (3,931) (38,518) (1,619) (44,068)
Translation adjustments     (490) (2,392) (446) (3,328)

At 31 July 2009     24,579 55,090 5,175 84,844

Net book amounts 
At 31 July 2009     60,428 24,313 2,019 86,760

At 31 July 2008     66,141 37,255 2,703 106,099

Assets held under finance leases
The net book value in respect of assets held under finance leases and accordingly capitalised in property, plant and equipment is  
as follows:

      Plant and Motor Total
      machinery vehicles 2010
      €’000 €’000 €’000

At 31 July 2010      928 208 1,136

At 31 July 2009      1,466 559 2,025

 
Future purchase commitments for property, plant and equipment

     Land and Plant and Motor Total
     buildings machinery vehicles 2010
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 31 July 2010 
Contracted for but not provided for     4 167 – 171
Authorised by the directors but not contracted for     446 782 93 1,321

Total     450 949 93 1,492

 
     Land and Plant and Motor Total
     buildings machinery vehicles 2009
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 31 July 2009 
Contracted for but not provided for     – 250 – 250
Authorised by the directors but not contracted for     636 1,360 123 2,119

Total     636 1,610 123 2,369
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 
(continued)

13 Investment properties  

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

At 1 August       59,214 192,418
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (Note 12)      (43,212) –
Fair value adjustment (Note 3)       – (134,543)
Development costs capitalised       – 1,339

At 31 July       16,002 59,214

 
Investment property principally comprises land located in Ireland in areas destined for future development and regeneration. During the 
current year the Group reassessed its strategy and transferred a number of properties to property, plant and equipment at their carrying 
value as these properties will be used in the business in the medium term. In 2009 against the background of the conditions in the Irish 
property market, the lack of transactions and the general economic environment, the directors commissioned an independent valuations 
expert to conduct a valuation of the Group’s investment properties. The valuation was on the basis of market value and complies with the 
requirements of the Valuation and Appraisal Standards issued under the auspices of the Society of Chartered Surveyors. This valuation 
resulted in a writedown in the carrying value of investment properties of €134.5 million (70 per cent) and a release of the related deferred 
tax liability of €30.9 million. The net non-cash charge of €103.6 million has been shown as an exceptional item in the Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2009.

The directors have reviewed the carrying value of investment properties as at 31 July 2010 and are satisfied that there has been no further 
diminution in value.

14 Goodwill and intangible assets

   Intangible assets
     Customer Supplier Computer
   Goodwill Brand related agreements related Total
   €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 31 July 2010 

Cost 
At 1 August 2009   71,082 15,569 31,753 744 5,635 124,783
Additions   – – 160 – 1,062 1,222
Translation adjustment   1,027 42 336 15 52 1,472

At 31 July 2010   72,109 15,611 32,249 759 6,749 127,477

Accumulated amortisation 
At 1 August 2009   – 573 3,274 249 4,688 8,784
Amortisation   – 326 2,919 158 511 3,914
Translation adjustment   – 17 103 13 51 184

At 31 July 2010   – 916 6,296 420 5,250 12,882

Net book amounts 
At 31 July 2010   72,109 14,695 25,953 339 1,499 114,595

At 31 July 2009   71,082 14,996 28,479 495 947 115,999

Amortisation expense of €3.9 million (2009: €3.3 million) has been charged to operating costs during the year. Included in intangibles is a 
carrying value of €13.5 million (2009: €13.5 million) relating to brands with indefinite useful lives. It has been determined that these assets 
will contribute indefinitely to the cash flows of the group. The factors supporting the durability of these brands include the stability of the 
industry and the absence of material legal, regulatory, contractual or other factors that limit the useful life of these brands. The useful  
lives of other intangible assets depending on the nature of the asset range as follows:

Brands 5 to 30 years
Customer related 5 to 13 years
Supplier agreements 4 to 10 years
Computer related 1 to 5 years
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14 Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

   Intangible assets
     Customer Supplier Computer
   Goodwill Brand related agreements related Total
   €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 31 July 2009 

Cost 
At 1 August 2008   73,694 17,772 24,811 800 5,408 122,485
Additions   – – – – 668 668
Arising on acquisition   2,678 331 9,753 – – 12,762
Disposals   (1,520) (2,400) (2,400) – (160) (6,480)
Translation adjustment   (3,770) (134) (411) (56) (281) (4,652)

At 31 July 2009   71,082 15,569 31,753 744 5,635 124,783

 
Accumulated amortisation 
At 1 August 2008   – 392 1,341 93 4,292 6,118
Amortisation   – 270 2,105 161 758 3,294
Disposals   – (80) (160) – (116) (356)
Translation adjustment   – (9) (12) (5) (246) (272)

At 31 July 2009   – 573 3,274 249 4,688 8,784

 
Net book amounts 
At 31 July 2009   71,082 14,996 28,479 495 947 115,999

At 31 July 2008   73,694 17,380 23,470 707 1,116 116,367

Cash generating units (CGUs)
Goodwill acquired through business combination activity has been allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to  
benefit from the business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to cash generating units across the Group is 
summarised as follows:

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Agri-Nutrition – Masstock       50,680 49,663
Agri-Nutrition – Other       501 491
Food       20,928 20,928

        72,109 71,082

 
Impairment testing of goodwill
No impairment losses have been recognised by the Group in respect of goodwill in either financial year. The recoverable amounts of cash 
generating units are based on value in use computations. Indefinite life intangible assets amounting to €13.5 million (2009: €13.5 million) are 
in the Food cash-generating unit within brands. The cash flow forecasts employed for this computation are extracted from the 2011 budget 
document formally approved by the Board of Directors. The cash flow projections are based on current operating results of the individual 
cash generating units and a conservative assumption regarding future organic growth. For the purposes of the calculation of value in use, 
management have approved that the cash flows are projected over a three year period with additional cash flows in subsequent years 
calculated using a terminal value methodology. The cash flows are discounted using appropriate risk adjusted discount rates relevant  
to Origin Enterprises plc, averaging 9 per cent, reflecting the risk associated with the individual future cash flows and the risk free rate.  
Any adverse change in the expected future operational results and cash flows may result in the value in use being less than the carrying 
value of a business unit and would require that the carrying value of the business unit be impaired and stated at the greater of the value  
in use or the recoverable amount of the business unit. However, the results of the impairment testing undertaken at 31 July 2010 indicates 
sufficient headroom such that any reasonable realistic movement in any of the underlying assumptions would not cause the cash generating 
unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount. A pre-tax discount rate of 9.9 per cent for the UK and 8.3 per cent for Ireland 
(based on Origins weighted average cost of capital) and terminal growth rates ranging from 0 per cent to 2 per cent have been used in  
the impairment models.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 
(continued)

14 Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

Key assumptions include management’s estimates of future profitability, replacement capital expenditure requirements and trade working 
capital investment needs. The term of the discounted cash flow model is a significant factor in determining the fair value of the cash-
generating units. The term has been arrived at taking account of the Group’s financial position and its established history of earnings  
and cash flow generation.

       Software Total
       development 2010
       €’000 €’000

Future purchase commitments at 31 July 2010 
Contracted for but not provided for       1,803 1,803
Authorised by the directors but not contracted for       3,258 3,258

Total       5,061 5,061

       Software Total
       development 2009
       €’000 €’000

Future purchase commitments at 31 July 2009 
Contracted for but not provided for       – –
Authorised by the directors but not contracted for       55 55

Total       55 55

15 Investments in associates and joint venture  

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

At 1 August       83,631 32,844
Share of profits after tax       11,572 3,717
Dividends received       (5,807) (4,174)
Investment in Welcon Invest AS (‘Welcon’)       – 45,991
Investment in Continental Farmers Group plc (‘Continental Farmers’)(i)     538 7,013
Loans to associates and joint venture       714 –
Share of reserve movements       (692) –
Actuarial loss on associate’s defined benefit pension scheme, net of deferred tax    (701) (1,126)
Translation adjustments       486 (634)

At 31 July       89,741 83,631

(i)  During 2010 the Group increased its shareholding in Continental Farmers, a large scale producer of high value agriculture crops 
operating in Poland and the Ukraine from 36.9 per cent to 38.7 per cent. In 2009 the investment was increased from 20 per cent  
to 36.9 per cent.

       Joint
      Associates venture Total
      €’000 €’000 €’000

The investment in associates and joint venture as at 31 July 2010 is analysed as follows: 
Non-current assets      28,689 37,508 66,197
Current assets      31,456 44,937 76,393
Non-current liabilities      (8,408) (17,476) (25,884)
Current liabilities      (14,345) (28,556) (42,901)

Net assets      37,392 36,413 73,805
Goodwill      380 15,556 15,936

At 31 July 2010      37,772 51,969 89,741
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15 Investments in associates and joint venture (continued)

       Joint
      Associates venture Total
      €’000 €’000 €’000

The investment in associates and joint venture as at 31 July 2009 is analysed as follows: 
Non-current assets      25,871 33,946 59,817
Current assets      29,003 31,098 60,101
Non-current liabilities      (5,583) (18,095) (23,678)
Current liabilities      (12,840) (15,705) (28,545)

Net assets      36,451 31,244 67,695
Goodwill      380 15,556 15,936

At 31 July 2009      36,831 46,800 83,631

 
The amounts included in these financial statements in respect of the income and expenses of associates and joint venture are taken  
from their latest financial statements prepared up to their respective year ends together with management accounts for the intervening 
periods to the Group’s year end. Both Continental Farmers and Welcon have 31 December year ends. The year end of the other 
associates is 31 July. 

16 Inventory  

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Raw materials       22,545 25,740
Finished goods       58,158 69,367
Consumable stores       1,435 1,158

Total inventory at the lower of cost and net realisable value      82,138 96,265

17 Trade and other receivables  

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Current 
Trade receivables       169,048 181,102
Amounts due from related parties       1,354 1,091
Value added tax       1,763 3,378
Other receivables       1,755 5,864
Prepayments and accrued income       5,661 7,421

        179,581 198,856

18 Trade and other payables  

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Current 
Trade payables       170,619 182,720
Accruals and other payables       78,771 88,271
Amounts due to ARYZTA AG and subsidiaries       49 1,629
Amounts due to other related parties       3,009 4,012
Income tax and social welfare       1,289 1,865
Value added tax       3,954 2,751

        257,691 281,248
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 
(continued)

19 Cash and cash equivalents

In accordance with IAS 7, Cash Flow Statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held for the purposes of meeting 
short-term cash commitments and investments which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. Where investments are categorised as cash equivalents, the related balances have a maturity of three months or 
less from the date of acquisition. Bank overdrafts are classified as current interest-bearing borrowings in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position.

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Cash at bank and in hand       76,043 89,950
Bank overdrafts (Note 20)       (3,418) (10,116)

Included in the Group cash flow statement       72,625 79,834

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily deposit bank rates.

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements 
of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

      Non-cash Translation
    2009 Cash flow movements adjustment 2010
    €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Cash    89,950 (12,883) – (1,024) 76,043
Overdraft    (10,116) 6,771 – (73) (3,418)

Cash and cash equivalents    79,834 (6,112) – (1,097) 72,625
Finance lease obligations    (1,716) 886 – 10 (820)
Loans    (231,870) 51,079 (804) (2,099) (183,694)

Net debt    (153,752) 45,853 (804) (3,186) (111,889)

20 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are measured  
at amortised cost.

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Included in non-current liabilities: 
Bank loans       183,694 231,870
Finance leases       382 871

        184,076 232,741

 
Included in current liabilities: 
Bank overdrafts       3,418 10,116
Finance leases       438 845

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings       3,856 10,961

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings       187,932 243,702
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20 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

       Face Carrying
       value amount
      Currency €’000 €’000

The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows: 
2010 
Secured loan facility: 

– facility maturing in August 2012      € 131,000 129,950 
– facility maturing in August 2012      £ 53,744 53,744

        184,744 183,694

2009 
Secured loan facility:  

– facility maturing in August 2012      € 181,000 179,208 
– facility maturing in August 2012      £ 52,662 52,662

        233,662 231,870

At 31 July 2010, the average interest being paid on the Groups net borrowings was 5.17 per cent (2009: 5.59 per cent).

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Repayment schedule – loans and overdrafts 
Within one year       3,856 10,961
Between one and five years       184,076 232,741

Loans and overdrafts       187,932 243,702

Guarantees
Group borrowings are secured by fixed and floating charges over all of the property, assets (including goodwill and intangibles), and 
undertakings of the principal operational entities of the Group and cross guarantees from various companies within the Group. The Group 
treats these guarantees as insurance contracts and accounts for them as such.

21 Deferred tax

The deductible and taxable temporary differences at the year end dates in respect of which deferred tax has been recognised are 
analysed as follows:

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Deferred tax assets (deductible temporary differences) 
Pension related       (2,777) (3,112)
Property, plant and equipment       (66) (73)
Hedge related       (712) (939)
Other deductible temporary differences       (1,052) (1,175)

Total       (4,607) (5,299)

Deferred tax liabilities (taxable temporary differences) 
Property, plant and equipment       8,884 6,760
Investment property       1,576 4,627
Pension related       3 52
Intangibles       6,943 7,099
Other       632 880

Total       18,038 19,418
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21 Deferred tax (continued)

Movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities, during the year, were as follows:

  Property,
  plant and Investment Hedge Pension
  equipment property related related Intangibles Other Total
  €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2010 
At 1 August 2009  6,687 4,627 (939) (3,060) 7,099 (295) 14,119
Recognised in Group income statement  (518) – (14) 526 (767) 9 (764)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment  3,058 (3,058) – – – – –
Recognised in Group statement of  

comprehensive income  – – 227 (262) – – (35)
Foreign exchange and other  (409) 7 14 22 611 (134) 111

At 31 July 2010  8,818 1,576 (712) (2,774) 6,943 (420) 13,431

2009 
At 1 August 2008  8,826 28,302 (208) (3,140) 5,573 (1,263) 38,090
Recognised in Group income statement  41 (30,590) – (51) (380) 295 (30,685)
Recognised in Group statement  

of comprehensive income  120 6,915 (731) (816) – – 5,488
Arising on acquisition  244 – – (95) 2,611 – 2,760
Disposals  (2,217) – – 893 – 176 (1,148)
Foreign exchange and other  (327) – – 149 (705) 497 (386)

At 31 July 2009  6,687 4,627 (939) (3,060) 7,099 (295) 14,119

Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised for withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings  
of certain subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

22 Contingent acquisition consideration 

Contingent acquisition consideration comprises the net present value of the amounts expected to be payable in respect of contingent 
consideration on the acquisition of Masstock Group Holdings in February 2008. The amount is due within five years and is expected to 
be paid partly in November 2011 with the remainder in 2012. 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

At 1 August       12,136 12,483
Discounting charge (Note 4)       591 570
Translation adjustment       278 (917)

At 31 July       13,005 12,136

23 Deferred government grants 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

At 1 August       2,476 2,644
Translation adjustment       – (2)
Release to Group income statement       (99) (145)
Other       – (21)

At 31 July       2,377 2,476
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24 Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes and defined contribution schemes with assets held in separate trustee 
administered funds. All of the defined benefit schemes are closed to new members.

During the year the Group undertook a strategic review of its Irish defined benefit pension arrangements. Benefit changes were implemented 
and in the case of the Origin scheme the Group ceased its liability to contribute to the scheme with effect from 16 December 2009 and 
agreed to increase the transfer values payable from the plan on wind up to 100 per cent of the transfer values under the Minimum Funding 
Standard (MFS) excluding any allowance for pension increases. These payments will be made during the 2011 financial year and are shown 
as a liability at 31 July 2010. The impact of the changes is to significantly reduce the pension liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position 
and the related volatility.

Under IAS 19, Employee Benefits the total deficit in the Group’s defined benefit schemes at 31 July 2010 was €7,498,000  
(2009: €23,053,000).

The pension cost expensed in the income statement for the year in respect of the Group’s defined benefit schemes was €1,512,000 
(2009: €1,612,000) and €1,234,000 (2009: €1,045,000) in respect of the Group’s defined contribution schemes.

Employee benefits included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position comprises the following:

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Non-current 
Deficit in defined benefit schemes       7,498 23,053
Provision to meet unfunded pensions       432 383

Total       7,930 23,436

Current 
Enhanced transfer values payable(a)       12,703 – 

 
(a) Increase to transfer values payable from the plan on wind up to 100 per cent of transfer values under the Minimum Funding Standard (MFS).

The valuations of the defined benefit schemes used for the purposes of the following disclosures are those of the most recent actuarial 
valuations carried at 31 July 2010 by an independent, qualified actuary. The valuations have been performed using the projected  
unit method.

       2010 2009

The main assumptions used by the actuary were as follows: 
Rate of increase in salaries       3.04% 2.55%
Rate of increases in pensions in payment and deferred benefits     2.68% 2.27%
Discount rate on scheme liabilities       5.40% 5.76%
Inflation rate       2.68% 2.27%

Sensitivity analysis for principal assumptions used to measure scheme liabilities
There are inherent uncertainties surrounding the financial assumptions adopted in calculating the actuarial valuation of the Group’s 
defined benefit pension schemes. The following table analyses, for the Group’s pension schemes, the estimated impact on the plan 
liabilities resulting from changes to key actuarial assumptions, whilst holding all other assumptions constant.

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on plan liabilities

Discount rate Increase/decrease 0.25% Decrease/increase by 4.3%

Price inflation Increase/decrease 0.25% Decrease/increase by 1.8%

Salary Increase/decrease 0.25% Decrease/increase by 1.0%

Mortality Increase/decrease by one year Decrease/increase by 2.6%
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24 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice from published statistics and experience in both geographic 
regions. The mortality assumptions imply the following life expectancies in years of an active member on retiring at age 65, 20 years  
from now:

       2010 2009

Male       21.8 21.8
Female       24.8 24.8

The mortality assumptions imply the following life expectancies in years of an active member, aged 65, retiring now:

       2010 2009

Male       20.7 20.7
Female       23.8 23.8

The expected long-term rate of return on the assets of the schemes was:

       2010 2009

Equities       8.30% 8.75%
Bonds       4.00% 4.11%
Property       6.94% 6.98%
Other       2.17% 4.96%

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on assets consideration was given to the current level of expected returns on risk 
free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which 
the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class was then 
weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the portfolio.

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Net pension liability 
Market value of scheme assets: 
Equities       21,271 34,900
Bonds       16,280 14,886
Property       1,578 5,082
Other       16,643 9,381

Total market value of assets       55,772 64,249
Present value of scheme obligations       (63,270) (87,302)

Deficit in the schemes       (7,498) (23,053)

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Movement in the fair value of scheme assets 
Fair value of assets at 1 August       64,249 63,079
Acquisitions       – 12,188
Transfer to joint venture       – (4,800)
Expected return on scheme assets       3,514 4,294
Employer contributions       4,466 2,378
Employee contributions       504 637
Benefit payments       (2,891) (1,837)
Experience adjustment on scheme assets       3,154 (9,801)
Transfer on windup of scheme       (18,051) –
Translation adjustments       827 (1,889)

Fair value of assets at 31 July       55,772 64,249

The expected contributions from the Group for the year ending 31 July 2011 are €3,507,000. These expected contributions do not allow 
for any changes in contribution rates for any of the plans which may arise as a result of actuarial valuations that are currently underway.

As at 31 July 2010 the pension schemes held Nil (2009: 185) shares in Origin Enterprises plc.
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24 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Movement in the present value of scheme obligations 
Value of scheme obligations at 1 August       (87,302) (85,767)
Acquisitions       – (12,536)
Transfers to joint venture       – 7,188
Current service costs       (800) (1,176)
Interest on scheme obligations       (4,175) (4,730)
Employee contributions       (504) (637)
Benefit payments       2,891 1,837
Settlement gain       12,557 –
Past service cost/curtailment gain       445 –
Experience adjustment on scheme liabilities       (1,532) (2,968)
Transfer on windup of scheme       18,051 –
Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions       (2,131) 8,964
Translation adjustments       (770) 2,523

Value of scheme obligations at 31 July       (63,270) (87,302)

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Movement in net liability recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
Net liability in schemes at 1 August       (23,053) (22,688)
Current service cost       (800) (1,176)
Contributions       4,466 2,378
Acquisitions       – (348)
Transfer to joint venture       – 2,388
Other finance expense       (661) (436)
Actuarial loss       (509) (3,805)
Settlement gain       12,557 –
Past service cost/curtailment gain       445 –
Translation adjustments       57 634

Net liability in schemes at 31 July       (7,498) (23,053)

     2010 2009 2008 2007
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Historical information 
Present value of the scheme obligation     (63,270) (87,302) (85,767) (44,057)
Fair value of plan assets     55,772 64,249 63,079 42,669

Deficit in schemes     (7,498) (23,053) (22,688) (1,388)

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Analysis of defined benefit expense recognised in the Group income statement 
Current service cost       800 1,176
Settlement gain       (12,557) –
Past service cost/curtailment gain       (445) –
Costs directly related to the wind up of the scheme      350 –
Enhanced transfer values payable       12,703 –

Total recognised in operating profit       851 1,176

Expected return on scheme assets       (3,514) (4,294)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities       4,175 4,730

Included in financing costs       661 436

Net charge to Group’s income statement       1,512 1,612
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24 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The cumulative expected return on scheme assets and interest cost on scheme liabilities since the formation of Origin Enterprises plc  
is €14,618,000 and €15,075,000 respectively.

Defined benefit pension income/(expense) recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
 
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets      3,154 (9,801)
Experience losses on scheme liabilities       (1,532) (2,968)
Changes in demographical and financial assumptions      (2,131) 8,964

Actuarial loss       (509) (3,805)
Deferred tax       262 816

Actuarial loss recognised in statement of comprehensive income     (247) (2,989)

The cumulative loss recognised in the statement of comprehensive income since the formation of Origin is €14,322,000 (2009: €14,059,000).

History of experience gains and losses 
 
     2010 2009 2008 2007

Difference between expected and actual return on assets:  
– amount (€’000)     3,154 (9,801) (18,845) 3,267 
– % of scheme assets     5.66% (15.5%) (44.2%) 9.4%

Experience gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities:  
– amount (€’000)     (1,532) (2,968) 1,716 183 
– % of scheme liabilities     (2.4%) (3.5%) 3.9% 0.4%

Total actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in statement of comprehensive income:  
– amount (€’000)     (509) (3,805) (19,591) 7,039 
– % of scheme liabilities     0.8% 4.4% 22.8% 15.9%
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25 Financial instruments and financial risk 

      Liabilities at Total
     Loans and amortised carrying
    Derivatives receivables costs amount Fair value
    €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2010 
Trade and other receivables    – 172,157 – 172,157 172,157
Derivative financial assets    495 – – 495 495
Cash and cash equivalents    – 76,043 – 76,043 76,043

     495 248,200 – 248,695 248,695

Trade and other payables    – – (252,399) (252,399) (252,399)
Bank overdrafts    – – (3,418) (3,418) (3,418)
Bank borrowings    – – (183,694) (183,694) (183,694)
Finance lease liabilities    – – (820) (820) (820)
Derivative financial liabilities    (5,092) – – (5,092) (5,092)

     (5,092) – (440,331) (445,423) (445,423)

2009 
Trade and other receivables    – 191,435 – 191,435 191,435
Derivative financial assets    65 – – 65 65
Cash and cash equivalents    – 89,950 – 89,950 89,950

     65 281,385 – 281,450 281,450

Trade and other payables    – – (279,619) (279,619) (279,619)
Bank overdrafts    – – (10,116) (10,116) (10,116)
Bank borrowings    – – (231,870) (231,870) (231,870)
Finance lease liabilities    – – (1,716) (1,716) (1,716)
Derivative financial liabilities    (7,110) – – (7,110) (7,110)

     (7,110) – (523,321) (530,431) (530,431)

Estimation of fair values
Set out below are the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of the financial assets and liabilities disclosed  
in the preceding table.

Cash and cash equivalents including short-term bank deposits
For short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents, all of which have a remaining maturity of less than three months, the nominal 
amount is deemed to reflect fair value.

Trade and other receivables/payables
For receivables and payables with a remaining life of less than six months or demand balances, the carrying value less impairment 
provision, where appropriate is deemed to reflect fair value. All other receivables and payables are discounted to fair value on initial 
recognition and in relation to subsequent fair value.

Derivatives (forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps)
Forward currency contracts are marked to market using quoted forward exchange rates at the year end date. The fair value of interest 
rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
For interest-bearing loans and borrowings with a contractual repricing date of less than six months, the nominal amount is deemed to 
reflect fair value. For loans with repricing dates of greater than six months, the fair value is calculated based on the present value of the 
expected future principal and interest cash flows discounted at interest rates effective at the year end date and adjusted for movements  
in credit spreads.

Finance lease liabilities
Fair value is based on the present value of future cash flows discounted at market rates at the year end date.
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25 Financial instruments and financial risk (continued) 

Risk exposures
The Group’s international operations expose it to different financial risks that include currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, commodity 
price risk and interest rate risk. The Group has a risk management programme in place which seeks to limit the impact of these risks  
on the financial performance of the Group. The Board has determined the policies for managing these risks. It is the policy of the Board  
to manage these risks in a non-speculative manner.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

credit risk•	
liquidity risk•	
market risk•	

This Note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Groups’ objectives, policies and processes  
for measuring and managing the risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout this note.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. 

The Group has established a strong internal audit function under the direction of the Audit Committee. Internal audit undertakes both 
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

The Board, through its Audit Committee, has reviewed the process for identifying and evaluating the significant risks affecting the 
business and the policies and procedures by which these risks will be managed effectively. The Board has embedded these structures 
and procedures throughout the Group and considers these to be a robust and efficient mechanism for creating a culture of risk 
awareness throughout the business.

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk
Credit risk arises from credit to customers arising on outstanding receivables and outstanding transactions as well as cash and cash 
equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions.

Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. There is no concentration  
of credit risk by dependence on individual customers or geographically. While a high proportion of receivables are located in the UK,  
the risk is mitigated due to the geographic spread throughout the UK, rather than an isolated geographic region.

The Group has detailed procedures for monitoring and managing the credit risk related to its trade receivables based on experience, 
customer’s track record and historic default rates. Individual risk limits are generally set by customer and risk is only accepted above such 
limits in defined circumstances. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Impairment provisions are used to record impairment 
losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible. At that point the amount is considered irrecoverable 
and is written off directly against the trade receivable.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other 
receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures.

Cash and short-term bank deposits
Group surplus cash is invested in the form of short-term bank deposits with financial institutions. Deposit terms are for a maximum of  
three months. Cash is deposited with financial institutions carrying minimum independent short-term credit ratings of A-1/P-1 or Irish 
banks which are covered by the Irish State bank guarantee.
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25 Financial instruments and financial risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets, net of impairment provisions represents the Group’s maximum credit exposure. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at year end was as follows:

       Carrying Carrying
       amount amount
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Trade and other receivables       172,157 191,435
Cash and cash equivalents       76,043 89,950
Derivative financial assets       495 65

        248,695 281,450

Trade receivables
The Group has detailed procedures for monitoring and managing the credit risk related to its trade receivables. Trade receivables are 
monitored by geographic region and by largest customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting 
date by geographic region based on location of customers was as follows:

       Carrying Carrying
       amount amount
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Domestic       36,913 54,580
United Kingdom       106,249 100,730
Continental Europe       25,886 25,792

        169,048 181,102

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was:

       Carrying Carrying
       amount amount
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Food customers       29,612 33,264
Agri-Nutrition customers       139,436 147,838

        169,048 181,102

At 31 July 2010 trade receivables of €46,905,000 (2009: €47,857,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to customers for 
which there is no recent history of default. The following table details the ageing of gross trade receivables, and the related impairment 
provisions in respect of specific amounts expected to be irrecoverable;

   2010 2009
     Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Not past due     110,858 – 122,705 –
Past due 0–30 days     46,905 – 47,857 –
Past due 31–120 days     17,520 (6,235) 16,961 (6,421)
Past due +121 days     3,069 (3,069) 3,313 (3,313)

At 31 July     178,352 (9,304) 190,836 (9,734)
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An analysis of movement in impairment provisions in respect of trade receivables was as follows:

       Trade Trade
       receivables receivables
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

1 August       (9,734) (11,062)
Acquisition       – (434)
(Charge)/credit to income statement       (1,017) 965
Write-off of old bad debts against provision       1,558 –
Translation adjustments       (111) 797

31 July       (9,304) (9,734)

During the year, under a debt purchase agreement with a financial institution, the Group has transferred credit risk and retained late 
payment risk on certain trade receivables, amounting to €8.8 million. The Group has continued to recognise an asset of €147,604 
representing the extent of its continuing involvement, and an associated liability of a similar amount.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure as far as possible that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between flexibility and continuity of funding. Short-term flexibility is achieved through the 
availability of overdraft facilities. The Group’s policy is that not more than 50 per cent of bank facilities should mature in the twelve month 
period following the year end. 100 per cent of the Group’s total bank facilities other than bank overdrafts at the year end will mature 
between two and five years. 

The contractual maturities of the Group’s loans and borrowings are set out in Note 20.

The contractual maturities of the other financial liabilities are set out below:

   Carrying Contractual 6 months 6–12 1–2 2–5
   amount cash flows or less months years years
   €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2010 
Trade and other payables   (252,399) (252,399) (252,399) – – –

Derivative financial liabilities 
Interest rate swaps used for hedging   (3,580) (3,580) (1,914) (863) (582) (221)
Currency forward contracts used for hedging   (1,512) (1,512) (1,484) (28) – –

    (5,092) (5,092) (3,398) (891) (582) (221)

     
   Carrying Contractual 6 months 6–12 1–2 2–5
   amount cash flows or less months years years
   €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2009 
Trade and other payables   (279,619) (279,619) (279,619) – – –

Derivative financial liabilities 
Interest rate swaps used for hedging   (5,413) (5,413) (1,591) (1,421) (2,082) (319)
Currency forward contracts used for hedging   (1,697) (1,697) (1,221) (434) (42) –

    (7,110) (7,110) (2,812) (1,855) (2,124) (319)
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25 Financial instruments and financial risk (continued)

Accounting for derivatives and hedging activities
The fair value of derivative financial assets and liabilities at the year end date is set out in the following table:

   2010 2009
     Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Cash flow hedges 
Currency forward contracts     495 (1,512) 65 (1,697)
Interest rate swaps     – (3,580) – (5,413)

At 31 July     495 (5,092) 65 (7,110)

Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges are those of highly probable forecasted future income or expenses. In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group  
is required to document the relationship between the item being hedged and the hedging instrument and demonstrate, at inception, that  
the hedge relationship will be highly effective on an ongoing basis. The hedge relationship must be tested for effectiveness on subsequent 
reporting dates.

There is no significant difference between the timing of the cash flows and income statement effect of cash flow hedges.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices and indices, such as foreign exchange rates, and interest rates will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of the Group’s risk management strategy is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return earned by the Group. The Group has two types of market 
risk being currency risk and interest rate risk, each of which is dealt with as follows:

Currency risk
In addition to the Group’s operations carried out in eurozone economies, it also has significant operations in the United Kingdom.  
In addition the Group also purchases from US suppliers. As a result the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is exposed to 
currency fluctuations in Sterling and US Dollar. The Group manages its Statement of Financial Position having regard to the currency 
exposures arising from its assets being denominated in different currencies. To this end, where foreign currency assets are funded by 
borrowing, such borrowing is generally sourced in the currency of the related assets. 

Transactional exposures arise from sales or purchases by an operating unit in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency.  
The Group uses forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on certain foreign currency purchases. The Group 
requires all its operating units to use forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on certain foreign currency 
purchases. The forward currency contracts must be in the same currency as the hedged item. 

Exposure to currency risk
The Group’s exposure to transactional foreign currency risk at the year end date is as follows:

     Euro Sterling US Dollar Total
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2010 
Trade receivables     31 63 – 94
Cash and cash equivalents     70 539 (1,088) (479)
Other payables     (314) (194) (12) (520)

      (213) 408 (1,100) (905)

2009 
Trade receivables     1,047 775 2 1,824
Cash and cash equivalents     205 250 – 455
Other payables     (1,575) (1,890) – (3,465)

      (323) (865) 2 (1,186)

Hedged items are excluded from the tables above.
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Currency sensitivity analysis
A 10 per cent strengthening/weakening of the euro against the following currencies at 31 July would have decreased profit or loss by  
the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2009.

A positive number below indicates an increase in profit where the € strengthens or weakens 10 per cent against the relevant currency.

       10% 10%
       strengthening weakening
       profit and profit and
       loss loss
       €’000 €’000

2010 
Dollar       110 (110)
Sterling       (41) 41

At 31 July 2010       69 (69)

2009 
Sterling       87 (87)

At 31 July 2009       87 (87)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s debt bears both floating and fixed rates of interest per the original contracts. The Group’s policy is to maintain between  
40 per cent and 70 per cent of overall Group average annual borrowings at fixed rates. This is achieved primarily by the use of interest 
rate swaps.

At 31 July the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was as follows:

       Carrying Carrying
       amount amount
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Fixed-rate instruments 
Finance lease liabilities       (820) (1,716)

At 31 July       (820) (1,716)

Variable rate instruments 
Interest-bearing borrowings       (183,694) (231,870)
Bank overdraft       (3,418) (10,116)
Cash and cash equivalents       76,043 89,950

At 31 July       (111,069) (152,036)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
The sensitivity analysis below is based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derivative instruments. A change  
of 50 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/decreased profit and loss by the amounts shown below. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the 
same basis for 2009.
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25 Financial instruments and financial risk (continued)

A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

        Income
        statement
       Principal 50bp
       amount increase
       €’000 €’000

2010 
Unhedged variable rate instruments       (24,949) (125)
Bank overdraft       (3,418) (17)

Cash flow sensitivity (net)       (28,367) (142)

2009 
Unhedged variable rate instruments       (64,208) (321)
Bank overdraft       (10,116) (51)

Cash flow sensitivity (net)       (74,324) (372)

A 50 basis points decrease in interest rates at the reporting date would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above. 

26 Share capital 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Authorised 
240,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.01 each       2,400 2,400
10,000,000 deferred convertible ordinary shares of €0.01 each     100 100

Total       2,500 2,500

Allotted, called up and fully paid 
133,015,572 ordinary shares of €0.01 each(i)       1,330 1,330
5,555,270 deferred convertible ordinary shares of €0.01 each(ii)      56 56

Total       1,386 1,386

(i) Ordinary shareholders are entitled to dividends as declared and each ordinary share carries equal voting rights at meetings of  
the Company.

(ii)  The deferred convertible ordinary shares, which do not rank for dividend, were issued to directors and senior management of Origin 
as part of the Origin Long-Term Incentive Plan (see Note 9 for further details) No deferred convertible ordinary shares were issued in 
2009 or 2010 (2008: 414,500, 2007: 5,140,770).

27 Dividends

The Board is recommending a dividend of 9 cent per ordinary share (2009: 8 cent per ordinary share). Subject to shareholders’ approval  
at the Annual General Meeting, dividends will be paid on 6 January 2011 to shareholders on the register on 10 December 2010. In 
accordance with IFRS this dividend has not been provided for in the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 July 2010.
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28 Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

Cash flow hedge reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments 
related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred since 1 August 2005.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences from 1 August 2005, arising from the translation of the net assets of 
the Group’s non-euro denominated operations, including the translation of the profits of such operations from the average exchange rate 
for the year to the exchange rate at the year end date.

Reorganisation reserve
The difference between the fair value of the investment recorded in the Company balance sheet and the carrying value of the assets and 
liabilities transferred in 2007 has been recognised as a reorganisation reserve in other reserves within equity together with the currency 
translation reserve, cash flow reserve and revaluation reserve.

Share-based payment reserve
This reserve comprises amounts credited to reserves in connection with equity awards less the effect of any exercises of such awards.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to revaluation surpluses arising on revaluations of investment property and previously held interest  
in associate.

Capital management
The capital managed by the Group consists of the consolidated equity. The Group has set the following goals for the management of  
its capital:

To maintain a prudent net debt (as set out in Note 19) to EBITDA and interest cover ratio (interest as a percentage of EBIT) to support  •	
a prudent capital base and ensure a long term sustainable business.
To comply with equity related covenants as determined by debt providers.•	
To achieve an adequate return for investors.•	
To apply a dividend policy which takes into account the level of peer group dividends, the Group’s financial performance and position, •	
the Group’s future outlook and other relevant factors including tax and other legal considerations.

29 Non-controlling interest 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

At 1 August       – 1,495
Non-controlling share of profit for the year       – 134
Translation adjustment       – (107)
Transfer to joint venture (see Note 3)       – (1,522)

At 31 July       – –



69Financial StatementsO R I G I N  E N T E R P R I S E S  P L C   /   A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 10

30 Commitments under operating leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as set out below. These amounts represent minimum future lease payments,  
in aggregate, that the Group are required to make under existing lease agreements.

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Operating leases which expire: 
Within one year       610 690
In two to five years       10,745 7,686
After more than five years       8,735 5,459

        20,090 13,835

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 15 to 25 years. Rents are 
generally reviewed every five years.

31 Contingent liabilities 

The Group and its principal subsidiaries have given composite guarantees and indemnities to secure obligations of fellow subsidiary 
undertakings on all sums due in respect of bank loans and bank advances. The Group considers these to be insurance contracts and 
accounts for them as such.

32 Related party transactions

In the normal course of business, the Group undertakes arms-length transactions with its associates and other related parties. Related 
parties include ARYZTA AG and its subsidiaries. A summary of transactions with these related parties during the year are as follows:

       Receiving
     Sale Purchase services
     of goods of goods from Total
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Transactions with joint venture     200 79 – 279
Transactions with associates     67,771 3,791 1,059 72,621
Transactions with subsidiaries of Aryzta AG and its subsidiaries   6,756 526 630 7,912

The trading balances owing to the Group from related parties were €1,354,000 (2009: €1,091,000) and the trading balances owing from 
the Group to these related parties were €3,009,000 (2009: €4,012,000). All outstanding balances with related parties are on an arms 
length basis.

Compensation of key management personnel
For the purposes of the disclosure requirements of IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, the term ‘key management personnel’ (i.e. those 
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group) comprises the Board of 
Directors, the Head of the business segments and their reporting teams, who manage the business and affairs of the Group. 

        2010
        €’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits       4,658 
Share-based payments        597

Total        5,255



70 O R I G I N  E N T E R P R I S E S  P L C   /   A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 10

Notes to the Group Financial Statements 
(continued)

33 Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.

Particular areas which are subject to accounting estimates and judgements in these financial statements are areas such as impairment 
testing, post employment benefits, financial instruments (Note 25), share-based payments (Note 9), intangible assets, deferred tax, fair 
value of properties (Note 13) and contingent acquisition consideration obligations.

Impairment testing of assets, particularly of goodwill, involves estimating the future cash flows for a cash generating unit and an appropriate 
discount rate to determine a recoverable value as set out in Note 14.

The estimation of employee benefit costs requires the use of actuaries and the determination of appropriate assumptions such as discount 
rates and expected future rates of return as set out in Note 24.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes of assets 
and liabilities and the amounts used for taxation purposes and for tax loss carry forwards. The valuation of tax loss carry forwards, 
deferred tax assets and the Company’s ability to utilise tax losses is based upon management’s estimates of future taxable income  
in different tax jurisdictions. For further detailed information, please refer to Note 21.

34 Controlling party

At 31 July 2010 the Group’s ultimate controlling party was ARYZTA AG. 

35 Subsequent events 

On 10 September 2010 Origin announced that it had reached agreement with CapVest Limited (‘CapVest’) to establish Valeo Foods 
Group Limited (‘Valeo’). Valeo has reached conditional agreement to simultaneously acquire 100 per cent of the branded food business  
of Origin and the Irish food company Batchelors. The transactions are subject to a number of conditions including clearance from the Irish 
Competition Authority.

Origin will hold a 45 per cent equity interest in Valeo, receive cash consideration of €26 million on completion in addition to deferred 
consideration of €35 million as a vendor loan note. Valeo is being financed through a combination of ringfenced banking facilities, equity 
funding to be provided by CapVest and rolled equity and the vendor loan note from Origin.

Proforma turnover of Valeo is approximately €200 million. These transactions will result in a loss on disposal of approximately €8 million 
which will be shown as a non-recurring item in the financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2011.

For the year ended 31 July 2011, Origin’s 45 per cent interest in Valeo will be treated as an associate undertaking and will be accounted 
for using the equity method in accordance with IAS 28.
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At 31 July 2010 the Group had the following significant subsidiaries, associates and joint venture:

  Group % Registered
Name Nature of business share office

Subsidiaries – Ireland   
Goulding Chemicals Limited Fertiliser blending and distribution 100 1
R & H Hall Limited Grain and feed trading 100 1
Shamrock Foods Limited Food distribution 100 1
Odlum Group Flour milling 100 5
Torrox Limited Holding company 100 1
   
Subsidiaries – United Kingdom   
Hall Silos Limited Grain handling 100 4
R & H Hall Trading Limited Grain and feed trading 100 4
Origin Fertilisers (UK) Limited Fertiliser blending and distribution 100 2
Masstock Group Holdings Limited Specialist agronomy products and services 100 6
CSC Crop Protection Limited Specialist agronomy products and services 100 6
   
Joint venture   
Welcon Invest AS Fish processing 50 8
 
Associates   
BHH Limited Provender millers 50 3
West Twin Silos Limited Silo operation 50 4
Continental Farmers Group plc Producer of agriculture crops 38.7 7

Registered offices
(1) 151 Thomas Street, Dublin 8, Ireland
(2) Orchard Road, Royston, Hertfordshire SG8 5HW, England
(3) 35/39 York Road, Belfast BT15 3GW, Northern Ireland
(4) McCaughey Road, Belfast BT3 9AG, Northern Ireland 
(5) Alexandra Road, Dublin 1, Ireland
(6) Andoversford, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GL54 4LZ, England
(7) Athol Street, Douglas, Isle of Man IMI 1LB
(8) 6718 Deknepollen, Norway

The country of registration is also the principal location of activities in each case other than in respect of Continental Farmers Group plc 
whose operations are based in Poland and Ukraine. 

Principal Subsidiary Undertakings 
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Company Accounting Policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the 
Company’s financial statements.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in euro and in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles under the historical cost 
convention, modified to include the revaluation of investment properties, and comply with financial reporting standards of the Accounting 
Standards Board, as promulgated by Chartered Accountants Ireland.

In accordance with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2009 the Company is permitted to take advantage of the exemption in Section 148(8)  
of the Companies Act 1963 from presenting to its members its Company profit and loss account and related notes that form part of the 
approved Company financial statements. The Company also does not present a separate statement of total recognised gains and losses 
or a cash flow statement.

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation 
of tangible assets, other than freehold land, on a straight line basis, by reference to the following estimated useful lives:

Fixtures and fittings 10 years
Buildings 25 to 50 years        

 
Investment properties
Investment properties are stated at open market value. Changes in the value of the investment properties are shown in the investment 
revaluation reserve through the statement of total recognised gains and losses, unless the total of the investment revaluation reserve is 
insufficient to cover a deficit, in which case the amount by which the deficit exceeds the amount in the investment revaluation reserve  
is charged in the profit and loss account.

Financial assets
Financial assets are carried at cost less provision for impairment. Income from financial assets is recognised in the profit and loss account 
in the year in which it is received.

Employee benefits
For the Company’s defined benefit scheme, the difference between the market value of the scheme’s assets and the actuarially assessed 
present value of the scheme’s liabilities, calculated using the projected unit credit method, is disclosed as an asset/liability in the balance 
sheet, net of deferred tax to the extent that it is deemed to be recoverable.

The amount charged to operating profit is the actuarially determined cost of pension benefits promised to employees and earned during 
the period plus the cost of any benefit improvements granted to members during the period.

The expected return on the pension scheme’s assets during the period and the increase in the scheme’s liabilities due to the unwinding of 
the discount during the period are shown as financing costs in the profit and loss account. Any difference between the expected return on 
assets and that actually achieved, and any changes in the liabilities due to changes in assumptions or because actual experience during the 
period was different to that assumed, are recognised as actuarial gains and losses in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on assets consideration was given to the current level of expected returns on risk 
free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which  
the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class was then 
weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the portfolio.

Taxation
Current tax is provided on the Company’s taxable profits, at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date, as required 
by FRS 19, Deferred Tax. Provision is made at the rates expected to apply when the timing differences reverse. 

A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be 
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences 
can be deducted.
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Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transactions or at a contracted rate. The resulting 
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the balance sheet rate or the contracted rate and the exchange differences are dealt  
with in the profit and loss account.

Cash flow statement
Under the provisions of FRS 1, Cash Flow Statements, a cash flow statement has not been prepared as the published Group financial 
statements, in which the Company’s results are consolidated, include a cash flow statement.

Related party transactions
Under the amended exemptions available within FRS 8, Related Party Disclosures, the Company, as a 71.4 per cent subsidiary of  
a group which publishes Group financial statements in which the Company’s results are consolidated, is no longer exempt from 
disclosing transactions with fellow members and associates of that Group. Relevant disclosures are included within Note 14.

Long-term incentive plan
The Company grants Equity Entitlements under the Origin Enterprises Long-Term Incentive Plan. All disclosures relating to the plan are 
made in Note 9 to the Group financial statements.

Borrowing costs
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss using the effective 
interest method.
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       2010 2009
     Notes  €’000 €’000

Fixed assets 
Investment properties     1  12,867 20,315
Tangible assets     2  7,819 431
Financial assets – investment in subsidiaries     3  2,014 2,014

        22,700 22,760

 
Current assets 
Debtors     4  416,275 372,879
Cash at bank and in hand       45,211 7,293

        461,486 380,172

 
Creditors (amounts falling due within one year)     5  (270,475) (208,894)

 
Net current assets       191,011 171,278

 
Total assets less current liabilities       213,711 194,038
 
Provisions for liabilities – deferred tax     6  198 (1,357)

 
Net assets before post employment liability       213,909 192,681
 
Employee benefits     7  (2,611) (12,410)

 
Net assets       211,298 180,271

 
Capital and reserves 
Called up share capital     8  1,386 1,386
Share premium     9  160,399 160,399
Profit and loss account and other reserves     9  49,513 18,486

 
Shareholders’ funds     9  211,298 180,271

Company Balance Sheet
As at 31 July 2010
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Notes to the Company Balance Sheet

1 Investment properties 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

At 1 August       20,315 69,500
Fair value adjustment       – (49,185)
Transfer to tangible fixed assets (Note 2)       (7,448) –

At 31 July       12,867 20,315

Investment properties principally comprises land located in Ireland in areas destined for future development and regeneration. During the 
current year the Company reassessed its strategy and transferred a number of properties to tangible fixed assets at their carrying value. 
These properties will be used in the Group’s business in the medium term.

In 2009 against the background of the conditions in the Irish property market, the lack of transactions and the general economic environment, 
the directors commissioned an independent valuations expert to conduct a valuation of the Company’s investment properties. The valuation 
was on the basis of market value and complies with the requirements of the Valuation and Appraisal Standards issued under the auspices  
of the Society of Chartered Surveyors. This valuation resulted in a writedown in the carrying value of investment properties of €49.2 million  
(70 per cent) and a release of the related deferred tax liability of €11.5 million. The net non-cash charge of €37.7 million was shown as an 
exceptional item in the Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 July 2009.

The directors have reviewed the carrying value of investment properties as at 31 July 2010 and are satisfied that there has been no 
diminution in value.

2 Tangible fixed assets 

      Land and Fixtures and
      buildings fittings Total
      €’000 €’000 €’000

Cost 
At 1 August 2009      – 488 488
Additions      – 8 8
Transfer from investment properties (Note 1)      7,448 – 7,448

At 31 July 2010      7,448 496 7,944

 
Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 August 2009      – 57 57
Depreciation charge for year      – 68 68

At 31 July 2010      – 125 125

 
Net book amounts 
At 31 July 2010      7,448 371 7,819

At 31 July 2009      – 431 431

3 Financial assets – investments in subsidiaries 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

At beginning and end of year       2,014 2,014

The principal subsidiaries are set out on page 71 to the Group financial statements.
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4 Debtors 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings       413,841 368,647
Corporation tax       2,008 3,674
Other debtors       426 558

        416,275 372,879

Amounts owed by subsidiaries are unsecured and are repayable on demand.

5 Creditors (amounts falling due within one year) 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings       249,982 203,715
Amounts owed to subsidiaries of ARYZTA AG       615 1,321
Trade creditors       604 683
Accruals and other payables       6,304 3,004
Enhanced transfer values payable       12,703 –
Value added tax       267 171

        270,475 208,894

Amounts owed to subsidiaries are unsecured and are payable on demand.

6 Deferred tax 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

At 1 August       1,357 10,296
Credit for the year       (1,555) (8,939)

At 31 July       (198) 1,357

Deferred tax (asset)/liabilities (taxable temporary differences): 
Investment property       1,353 1,353
Property, plant and equipment       4 4
Pension       (1,555) –

        (198) 1,357

7 Pension scheme

The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme which is closed to new members.

During the year the Company undertook a strategic review of its defined benefit pension arrangements. The Company ceased its liability 
to contribute to the scheme with effect from 16 December 2009 and agreed to increase the transfer values payable from the plan on wind 
up to 100 per cent of the transfer values under the Minimum Funding Standard (MFS) excluding any allowance for pension increases. 
These payments will be made during the 2011 financial year and are shown as a liability at 31 July 2010. The impact of the changes  
is to significantly reduce the pension liabilities in the balance sheet and the related volatility.

Under FRS 17 calculations the total deficit in the Company’s defined benefit scheme at 31 July 2010 was €2,984,000 (2009: €14,183,000). 
The pension charge in the profit and loss account for the period in respect of the Company’s defined benefit scheme was €3,319,000 
(2009: €611,000).

Notes to the Company Balance Sheet  
(continued)
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7 Pension scheme (continued)

The expected contributions from the Company for the year ending 31 July 2011 is €1,302,000 (2009: €609,000). The valuations of the 
defined benefit schemes used for the purposes of the following disclosures are those of the most recent actuarial valuations carried  
out at 31 July 2010 by an independent, qualified actuary. The valuations have been performed using the projected unit method.

       2010 2009
       % %

The main assumptions used by the actuary were as follows: 
Rate of increase in salaries       2.75% 2.55%
Rate of increases in pensions in payment and deferred benefits     2.68% 1.80%
Discount rate in scheme liabilities       5.30% 5.50%
Inflation rate       2.00% 1.80%

The expected long-term rate of return on the assets of the schemes were: 
Equities       8.30% 8.75%
Bonds       4.00% 4.25%
Property       7.00% 7.00%
Other       2.00% 2.00%

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Net pension liability 
Market value of scheme assets: 
Equities       – 16,210
Property       – 3,860
Other       4,894 987

Total market value of assets       4,894 21,057
Present value of scheme liabilities       (7,878) (35,240)

Deficit in the scheme       (2,984) (14,183)
Related deferred tax asset       373 1,773

Net pension liability       (2,611) (12,410)
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Notes to the Company Balance Sheet  
(continued)

7 Pension scheme (continued)

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Movement in value of scheme assets 
Value of assets at 1 August       21,057 24,874
Expected return on scheme assets       920 1,956
Actuarial gain/(loss)       476 (6,362)
Employer contributions       673 594
Benefit payment       (269) (241)
Transfer on wind up of scheme       (18,051) –
Employee contributions       88 236

Value of assets at 31 July       4,894 21,057

Movement in the present value of scheme obligations 
Value of scheme obligations at 1 August       (35,240) (34,976)
Settlement gain       10,254 –
Current service costs       (267) (503)
Interest on scheme obligations       (1,173) (2,064)
Actuarial gains       316 2,298
Benefit payment       269 241
Transfer on wind up of scheme       18,051 –
Employee contributions       (88) (236)

Value of scheme obligations at 31 July       (7,878) (35,240)

Movement in net liability recognised in the balance sheet 
At 1 August       (14,183) (10,102)
Settlement gain       10,254 –
Current service cost       (267) (503)
Contributions       673 594
Other finance income       (253) (108)
Actuarial gain/(loss)       792 (4,064)

Net liability in scheme at 1 July       (2,984) (14,183)

Analysis of defined benefit expense recognised in the profit and loss account 
Current service cost       267 503
Settlement gain       (10,254) –
Costs directly related to the wind up of the scheme      350 –
Enhanced transfer values payable       12,703 –

Total recognised in operating profit       3,066 503

Expected return on scheme assets       (920) (1,956)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities       1,173 2,064

Included in financing costs       253 108

Net charge to Group’s income statement       3,319 611
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7 Pension scheme (continued)

  
     2010 2009 2008 2007
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Historical information 
Present value of the scheme obligation     (7,878) (35,240) (34,976) (32,045)
Fair value of plan assets     4,894 21,057 24,874 34,115

(Deficit)/surplus in schemes     (2,984) (14,183) (10,102) 2,070

     2010 2009 2008 2007
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Defined benefit pension expense recognised in the statement  
of total recognised gains and losses 

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets    476 (6,362) (11,359) 3,294
Experience adjustment on scheme liabilities     787 1,214 (2,044) 566
Changes in demographical and financial assumptions    (471) 1,084 61 3,396

Actuarial gain/(loss)     792 (4,064) (13,342) 7,256
Deferred tax (charge)/credit     (99) 508 1,545 (764)

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in statement of recognised income and expense  693 (3,556) (11,797) 6,492

 
History of experience gains and losses: 
Difference between expected and actual return on assets:  

– amount (€’000)     (476) 6,362 11,359 3,294 
– % of scheme assets     (9.7%) 30.2% 45.7% 12.2%

Experience adjustment on scheme liabilities:  
– amount (€’000)     (787) (1,214) 2,044 566 
– % of scheme liabilities     (9.9%) (3.4%) 6.4% 1.7%

Total actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses:  
– amount (€’000)     792 (4,064) (13,342) 7,256 
– % of scheme liabilities     10.1% (11.5%) 38.1% 22.6%

 
The cumulative loss recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses since the formation of Origin is €8,168,000 
(2009: €8,861,000). 

8 Share capital 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Authorised 
240,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.01 each       2,400 2,400
10,000,000 deferred convertible ordinary shares of €0.01 each     100 100

Total       2,500 2,500

Allotted, called up and fully paid 
133,015,572 ordinary shares of €0.01 each(i)       1,330 1,330
5,555,270 deferred convertible ordinary shares of €0.01 each(ii)      56 56

Total       1,386 1,386

(i) Ordinary shareholders are entitled to dividends as declared and each ordinary share carries equal voting rights at meetings of  
the Company.

(ii)  The deferred convertible ordinary shares, which do not rank for dividend, were issued to directors and senior management of Origin 
as part of the Origin Long-Term Incentive plan (see Note 9 of the Group accounts for further details). No deferred convertible ordinary 
shares were issued in 2009 or 2010. (2008:414,500, 2007: 5,140,770).
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Notes to the Company Balance Sheet  
(continued)

9 Movement on reserves 

    Share Share LTIP Profit and
    capital premium reserve loss Total
    €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2010 
At 31 July 2009    1,386 160,399 1,830 16,656 180,271
Profit for the period    – – – 40,057 40,057
Actuarial gain on post employment liabilities    – – – 792 792
Deferred tax on actuarial gain    – – – (99) (99)
Dividend paid    – – – (10,641) (10,641)
Share-based payments    – – 918 – 918

At 31 July 2010    1,386 160,399 2,748 46,765 211,298

The profit before exceptional items attributable to Group shareholders dealt with in the financial statements of the holding company for 
the year ended 31 July 2010 was €40,057,000 (2009: €18,841,200). As permitted by Section 148 (8) of the Companies Act, 1963 and 
Section 7(1A) of the Companies (Amendment) Act 1986, the income statement of the Company has not been separately presented in 
these financial statements.

    Share Share LTIP Profit and
    capital premium reserve loss Total
    €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

2009 
At 31 July 2008    1,386 265,182 914 4,384 271,866
Reduction in share premium    – (104,783) – 104,783 –
Loss for the period    – – – (86,380) (86,380)
Actuarial loss on post employment liabilities    – – – (4,064) (4,064)
Deferred tax on actuarial loss    – – – 508 508
Deferred tax on capital gains tax rate increase    – – – (2,575) (2,575)
Share-based payments    – – 916 – 916

At 31 July 2009    1,386 160,399 1,830 16,656 180,271

The application for a reduction in share premium of €104,783,000 pursuant to section 72 of the Companies Act 1963, was approved at 
an Extraordinary General Meeting of the company held on 1 July 2009 with the reduction subsequently approved by the High Court of 
Ireland on 21 July 2009.

10 Contingent liabilities

In order to avail of the exemption under Section 17 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986 the Company has guaranteed the liabilities of 
all of its subsidiaries registered in Ireland. Where the Company has entered into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness 
of such subsidiaries, the Company considers these to be insurance contracts and accounts for them as such. The Company treats the 
guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment 
under the guarantee.

11 Share-based payment

All disclosures relating to the long-term incentive plan are set out in Note 9 to the Group financial statements.
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12 Statutory and other information 

       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Auditors’ remuneration for audit services       – –
Profit/(loss) for the financial year       40,057 (86,380)

All of the Group audit fee was recharged by the Company to its subsidiaries in the current year.

13 Employment 

       2010 2009
       Number Number

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was as follows: 
Management and administration       22 22

 
       2010 2009
       €’000 €’000

Aggregate employment costs of the company are analysed as follows: 
Wages and salaries       3,788 3,260
Social welfare costs       198 245
Pension costs:  

–  defined benefit schemes – statement of total recognised gains and losses    (792) 4,064 
–  defined besnefit schemes – profit and loss account      520 611

Share-based payment       918 916

        4,632 9,096

14 Related party transactions

In the normal course of business, the Company undertakes arms-length transactions with its associates and other related parties.  
A summary of transactions with these related parties during the year are as follows:

       Receiving
     Sale of Purchase services 
     goods of goods from Total
     €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Transactions with subsidiaries of Aryzta AG and its subsidiaries   – 529 630 1,159

15 Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 22 September 2010.
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Notes
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Notes
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Notes
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Agri-Nutrition and Food company listed on  
the ESM and AIM markets of the Irish and  
London Stock Exchanges. 
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